UNTRODDEN PATHWAYS IN THE THEORY OF THE RESTRICTED PARTITION FUNCTION p(n, N)

ATUL DIXIT, PRAMOD EYYUNNI, BIBEKANANDA MAJI AND GARIMA SOOD

ABSTRACT. We obtain a finite analogue of a recent generalization of an identity in Ramanujan's Notebooks. Differentiating it with respect to one of the parameters leads to a result whose limiting case gives a finite analogue of Andrews' famous identity for $\operatorname{spt}(n)$. The latter motivates us to extend the theory of the restricted partition function p(n,N), namely, the number of partitions of n with largest parts less than or equal to N, by obtaining the finite analogues of rank and crank for vector partitions as well as of the rank and crank moments. As an application of the identity for our finite analogue of the spt-function, namely $\operatorname{spt}(n,N)$, we prove an inequality between the finite second rank and crank moments. The other results obtained include finite analogues of a recent identity of Garvan, an identity relating d(n,N) and $\operatorname{lpt}(n,N)$, namely the finite analogues of the divisor and largest parts functions respectively, and a finite analogue of the Beck-Chern theorem. We also conjecture an inequality between the finite analogues of k^{th} rank and crank moments.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	New results in the theory of the restricted partition function $p(n, N)$	6
3.	Preliminaries	12
4.	Proofs of Theorem 1.1, its corollaries and of Theorem 1.4	13
5.	A finite analogue of Andrews' identity for $\operatorname{spt}(n)$	18
6.	A finite analogue of the Beck-Chern theorem and properties of $N_{\mathrm{SC}}(n,N)$	24
7.	A relation between $d(n, N)$ and a finite analogue of the largest parts function	36
8.	An example of a generalized sum-of-tails identity and its combinatorial implication	37
9.	A finite analogue of Garvan's identity and its special cases	38
10.	Concluding Remarks	42
Ref	References	

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 11P81, 11P84; Secondary 05A17.

Keywords and phrases. partitions, restricted partition function, q-series, finite analogues, smallest parts function, divisor function.

1. Introduction

The connection between basic hypergeometric series and generating functions of the divisor functions has been well explored. The earliest reference to it is probably of Kluyver [40] who proved that for $q \in \mathbb{C}$, |q| < 1,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}}{(1-q^n)(q)_n} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^n}{1-q^n},\tag{1.1}$$

where, the notation followed here and throughout the sequel, is

$$(A)_0 := (A;q)_0 = 1;$$
 $(A)_n := (A;q)_n = (1-A)(1-Aq)\cdots(1-Aq^{n-1}),$ $n \ge 1,$
 $(A)_\infty := (A;q)_\infty = \lim_{n \to \infty} (A;q)_n \quad (|q| < 1).$

The $(A;q)_n$ is called the q-shifted factorial and q its base. When we simultaneously work with q-shifted factorials having different bases, we generally suppress the base q in those q-shifted factorials having base q, but explicitly denote the bases other than q in the other q-shifted factorials.

Equation (1.1) was rediscovered by Fine [27, p. 14, Equations (12.4), (12.42)], and by Uchimura [51, Theorem 2] who also found an additional representation, namely,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nq^n (q^{n+1})_{\infty} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}}{(1-q^n)(q)_n} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^n}{1-q^n}.$$
 (1.2)

Identities such as these have been shown to have beautiful combinatorial interpretations arising from the theory of partitions. Before commencing on these, following are the notations used throughout the paper:

- π : an integer partition,
- $|\pi|$: sum of the parts of π ,
- p(n): the number of integer partitions of n,
- $s(\pi) := \text{the smallest part of } \pi$,
- $l(\pi) := \text{the largest part of } \pi$,
- $\#(\pi) :=$ the number of parts of π ,
- $rank(\pi) = l(\pi) \#(\pi),$
- $\nu_d(\pi) :=$ the number of parts of π not counting multiplicity,
- $\mathcal{P}(n) := \text{collection of all integer partitions of } n$,
- $\mathcal{D}(n) := \text{collection of partitions of } n \text{ into distinct parts},$
- p(n, N) := the number of integer partitions of n such that $l(\pi) \leq N$,
- $\mathcal{P}(n,N) := \text{collection of all integer partitions of } n \text{ whose largest parts are } \leq N.$

Bressoud and Subbarao [18] showed that the equality of the first and the last expressions of (1.2) implies

$$\sum_{\pi \in \mathcal{D}(n)} (-1)^{\#(\pi) - 1} s(\pi) = d(n), \tag{1.3}$$

where d(n) denotes the number of divisors of n. Fokkink, Fokkink and Wang [28] also rediscovered this result by applying a beautiful combinatorial argument on a sequence of polynomials. Bressoud and Subbarao [18] also generalized (1.3) for $\sigma_m(n)$, the sum of m^{th} powers of the divisors of n.

The finite analogues of identities such as (1.2) have also been well-studied. For example, van Hamme found that [38]

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^n}{1 - q^n} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} q^{n(n+1)/2}}{(1 - q^n)},\tag{1.4}$$

where

$$\begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_q := \begin{cases} \frac{(q;q)_N}{(q;q)_n(q;q)_{N-n}}, & \text{if } 0 \le n \le N, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

is the q-binomial coefficient. Letting $N \to \infty$ in (1.4) easily gives the second equality in (1.2). Guo and Zeng [36, Equation (3.8)] obtained a finite analogue of the first and the last expressions in (1.2), namely,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^n}{1-q^n} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nq^n \left(q^{n+1}\right)_{N-1} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nq^{n+N} \left(q^{n+1}\right)_{N-1},\tag{1.5}$$

and gave a refinement of (1.3) as follows. Let d(n, N) denote the number of divisors of n which are less than or equal to N. Then

$$d(n,N) = t(n,N) - t(n-N,N), (1.6)$$

where

$$t(n,N) := \sum_{\pi \in \mathcal{D}(n,N)} (-1)^{\#(\pi)-1} s(\pi), \tag{1.7}$$

and $\mathcal{D}(n,N)$ is the collection of partitions of n into distinct parts such that $l(\pi)-s(\pi) \leq N-1$. It is surprising that along with (1.6), Guo and Zeng do not give a combinatorial interpretation of the right-hand side of (1.4). However, as one might guess, (1.6) itself is the combinatorial interpretation of (1.4). Indeed, the right-hand side of (1.4) can be written in the form

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-1)^{n-1}q^{n(n+1)/2}}{(1-q^n)} \\ &= \sum_{n=1}^{N} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \begin{bmatrix} N-1 \\ n-1 \end{bmatrix} k(-1)^{n-1}q^{nk+n(n-1)/2} - q^N \sum_{n=1}^{N} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \begin{bmatrix} N-1 \\ n-1 \end{bmatrix} k(-1)^{n-1}q^{nk+n(n-1)/2}. \end{split}$$

Now from the fact [2, p. 33] that $\begin{bmatrix} N-1\\ n-1 \end{bmatrix}$ is the generating function of the number of partitions of an integer into at most n-1 parts each less than or equal to N-n, one can see that

$$\begin{vmatrix} N-1 \\ n-1 \end{vmatrix} q^{nk} \cdot q^{n(n-1)/2}$$

is the generating function for partitions into n distinct parts with smallest part k such that

$$l(\pi) - s(\pi) \le (N - n) + n - 1 = N - 1.$$

Thus the right-hand side of (1.4) is the generating function of t(n, N) - t(n - N, N). This establishes (1.6) since $\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^n}{1-q^n}$ generates d(n, N).

It must be mentioned here that along with the finite analogues (1.4) and (1.5), there also exists a one-variable generalization of (1.2) in the literature. In fact, it is an identity in Ramanujan's Notebook [16, p. 264, Entry 4], [45, p. 354], [47, p. 302-303], namely,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} z^n q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}}{(1-q^n)(zq)_n} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{z^n q^n}{1-q^n},$$
(1.8)

where $z \neq q^{-n}, n \geq 1$. It was rediscovered by Uchimura [51, Equation (3)] and Garvan [33].

Identity (1.8) was recently generalized further by the first and the third authors in [24, Theorem 2.2] by obtaining for |zq| < 1 and $|c| \le 1$,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} z^n q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}}{(1 - cq^n)(zq)_n} = \frac{z}{c} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(zq/c)_{n-1}}{(zq)_n} (cq)^n.$$
 (1.9)

The case z=1 of this identity, with the right-hand side expressed as a q-product by q-binomial theorem, was previously obtained by Yan and Fu [52] and was rediscovered by Andrews, Garvan and Liang [13, Theorem 3.5] by generalizing the left-hand side of (1.3) to

$$FFW(c, n) := \sum_{\pi \in \mathcal{D}(n)} (-1)^{\#(\pi) - 1} \left(1 + c + \dots + c^{s(\pi) - 1} \right).$$

For an up-to-date history of these and other such identities, we refer the reader to [24].

Ismail and Stanton [39] observed that the genesis of such identities is in the theory of basic hypergeometric functions. Indeed, as an application of a $_3\phi_2$ -transformation [35, p. 359, (III.9)], the result

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(b/a)_n a^n}{(1 - cq^n)(b)_n} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(b/c)_m c^m}{(b)_m} \left(\frac{aq^m}{1 - aq^m} - \frac{bq^m}{1 - bq^m} \right)$$
(1.10)

was obtained in [24, Theorem 2.1] for |a| < 1, |b| < 1 and $|c| \le 1$. Then (1.9) was derived from it as a special case by letting $a \to 0$ and replacing b by zq. The richness of partition-theoretic information embedded in (1.9) and other related identities are demonstrated in the same paper.

One of the goals of this paper is to obtain a finite analogue of (1.10). As we shall see, this finite analogue gives many important corollaries, one of which is a source for most of the content in the sequel. We begin with the finite analogue of (1.10).

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{\left(\frac{b}{a}\right)_{n}(q)_{n}(a)_{N-n}a^{n}}{(1-cq^{n})(b)_{n}(a)_{N}} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{\left(\frac{b}{c}\right)_{n-1}(q)_{n}(cq)_{N-n}c^{n-1}}{(b)_{n-1}(cq)_{N}} \left(\frac{aq^{n-1}}{1-aq^{n-1}} - \frac{bq^{n-1}}{1-bq^{n-1}}\right). \tag{1.11}$$

Letting $a \to 0$, replacing b by zq in Theorem 1.1, we obtain a finite analogue of (1.9). We record it separately as a theorem as it will be frequently used in the sequel.

Theorem 1.2. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. For $z, c \neq q^{-n}, 1 \leq n \leq N$,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} z^n q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}(q)_n}{(1 - cq^n)(zq)_n} = \frac{z}{c} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(zq/c)_{n-1}(q)_n (cq)_{N-n} (cq)^n}{(zq)_n (cq)_N}. \tag{1.12}$$

Another corollary of Theorem 1.1, which generalizes an identity of Ramanujan [45, p. 355], [16, p. 265, Entry 5], [47, p. 302-303] is discussed in Section 4.

The interesting special cases of Theorem 1.2, which include finite analogues of Ramanujan's identity (1.8), Yan and Fu's identity [52, p. 116, Equation (4)] as well as that involving a generalization of the finite analogue of Ramanujan's celebrated function

$$\sigma(q) := \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{n(n+1)/2}}{(-q)_n},\tag{1.13}$$

are discussed in Section 4.

In a recent paper, Garvan [34, Equation (1.3)] derived an interesting identity and gave combinatorial implications of its corollaries. For $|z| \le 1$ and |q| < 1, this identity is

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} z^n q^{n^2}}{(zq;q^2)_n (1-zq^{2n})} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{z^n q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}} (q;q)_{n-1}}{(zq;q)_n}.$$
 (1.14)

A natural proof of Garvan was obtained in [24, Equations (6.1), (6.4), (6.6)] using (1.9). Theorem 1.2 can be used to obtain a finite analogue of Garvan's identity, namely,

Theorem 1.3. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. For $z \neq q^{-n}, 1 \leq n \leq 4N - 1$,

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^{2}} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} z^{n} q^{n^{2}} (q^{2}; q^{2})_{n}}{(zq; q^{2})_{n} (1 - zq^{2n})} \\ &= \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^{2}} \left(\frac{(q; q)_{2n-2} z^{2n-1} q^{n(2n-1)}}{(zq; q)_{2n-1}} + \frac{(q; q)_{2n-1} z^{2n} q^{n(2n+1)}}{(zq; q)_{2n}} \right) \frac{(q^{2}; q^{2})_{n}}{(zq^{2N+1}; q^{2})_{n}}. \end{split}$$
(1.15)

 $\textbf{Remark 1. } \textit{Letting $N \to \infty$ in the above theorem gives (1.14), for, } \lim_{N \to \infty} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^2} \frac{(q^2;q^2)_n}{(zq^{2N+1};q^2)_n} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(q^2;q^2)_n}{(zq^2)_n} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(q^2;q^2)_n}{$

1 and then the two expressions inside the parenthesis on the right-hand side of (1.15) beautifully combine resulting in $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{z^n q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}(q;q)_{n-1}}{(zq;q)_n}.$

We now state an important result which, as alluded to above, is the genesis of the most of the content of this paper. This result is obtained by taking the first derivative of (1.12) with respect to z and then letting $z \to 1$. It is a finite analogue of Theorem 2.8 from [24].

Theorem 1.4. Let Fine's function F(a,b;t) be defined by [27, p. 1]

$$F(a,b;t) := \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(aq)_n}{(bq)_n} t^n.$$
 (1.16)

Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Then for $|q| < 1, |c| < 1/|q|, c \neq q^{-n}, 0 \leq n \leq N$,

$$\frac{1}{(q)_N} \sum_{n=1}^N \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} n q^{n(n+1)/2}}{1 - c q^n} + \sum_{n=1}^N \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{n(n+1)}}{(q)_n (1 - q^n)} F\left(q^N, q^n; c q^n\right)
= \frac{c}{(1 - c)^2 (q)_N} \left(\frac{(q)_N}{(cq)_N} - 1\right) + \frac{1}{(c)_{N+1}} \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{(cq)_n}{(q)_n} \frac{q^n}{1 - q^n}.$$
(1.17)

2. New results in the theory of the restricted partition function p(n, N)

Let p(n,N) denote the number of partitions of n whose largest parts are less than or equal to N. Although not as popular as the partition function p(n) itself, the restricted partition function p(n,N) has been studied by many mathematicians. Szekeres [49], [50] proved an asymptotic formula for p(n,N) whereas Almkvist and Andrews [1] obtained a Hardy-Ramanujan-Rademacher-type formula for it. Kronholm and Rehmert [41, Theorem 1] obtained a general congruence for p(n,N), namely, if N is an odd prime, $k \geq 1, 1 \leq j \leq \frac{N-1}{2}$, $\alpha \geq 1$, and if lcm(a) denotes the least common multiple of the natural numbers from 1 to a, then

$$p(\operatorname{lcm}(N)N^{\alpha-1}k - jN, N) \equiv 0 \pmod{N^{\alpha}}.$$
 (2.1)

However, to the best of our knowledge, there isn't any literature on the partition statistics for p(n, N) similar to that for p(n).

The second goal of this paper is to extend the theory of p(n, N) to include not only the corresponding rank and crank in terms of the vector partitions associated with p(n, N), and the rank and crank moments, but also the associated smallest parts function which we denote by $\operatorname{spt}(n, N)$.

<u>Definition 1</u> spt(n, N) := the number of smallest parts in all partitions of n whose corresponding largest parts are less than or equal to N.

Clearly,
$$\operatorname{spt}(n,1) = n$$
, and for $n \leq N$, $\operatorname{spt}(n,N) = \operatorname{spt}(n)$.

The motivation for this extension of the theory of p(n, N) lies in the fact that the following special case when $c \to 1$ of Theorem 1.4 is actually, as we shall see, the generating function version of the finite analogue of Andrews' identity for spt-function (see Theorem 2.4 below).

Theorem 2.1. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Then for |q| < 1,

$$\frac{1}{(q)_N} \sum_{n=1}^N \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} n q^{n(n+1)/2}}{1-q^n} + \sum_{n=1}^N \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{n^2}}{(q)_n} \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{q^k}{(1-q^k)^2} = \frac{1}{(q)_N} \sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{n q^n (1-q^{Nn})}{1-q^n}.$$

However, before we proceed with the finite analogue of Andrews' identity, it makes sense to first introduce the finite analogues of rank, crank and their moments. The introduction of these new concepts when compared with the ones for p(n), viewed historically, is like moving in the reverse direction, for, the rank and crank were introduced only after partition congruences modulo 5, 7 and 11 were found by Ramanujan with a need to explain as to why they exist. Nevertheless, as we shall see, the introduction of the finite analogues of rank and crank will be very fruitful in the development of the theory of p(n, N).

Let $V_1 = \mathcal{D} \times \mathcal{P}$ denote the set of vector partitions, where \mathcal{D} is the set of partitions of a number into distinct parts and \mathcal{P} is the set of unrestricted partitions. Denote an element $\vec{\pi}$ of V_1 by (π_1, π_2) , where $|\vec{\pi}| = |\pi_1| + |\pi_2|$. For any positive integer N and j with $1 \le j \le N$, define S_1 to be

$$S_1 := \left\{ \vec{\pi} \in V_1 : \pi_1 \text{ is either an empty partition or such that its parts lie in } [N - j + 1, N] \right.$$
and π_2 is an unrestricted partition with its Durfee square of size j . (2.2)

Let $w_r(\vec{\pi}) = (-1)^{\#(\pi_1)}$ be the weight of the vector partition $\vec{\pi}$ and its rank $(\vec{\pi}) = \operatorname{rank}(\pi_2)$. Now define

$$N_{S_1}(m,n) := \sum_{j=1}^{N} N_{S_1}\left(m,n; [j]\right),$$
 (2.3)

where

$$N_{S_1}\left(m,n; [j]\right) := \sum_{\substack{\vec{\pi} \in S_1, |\vec{\pi}| = n \\ \operatorname{rank}(\vec{\pi}) = m}} w_r(\vec{\pi}),$$

that is, $N_{S_1}(m, n; [j])$ is the number of vector partitions of n with rank m and counted with weight $w_r(\vec{\pi})$, and with the size of the Durfee squares of π_2 equal to j.

One can easily verify that for any fixed j, $N_{S_1}\left(m,n;[j]\right)=N_{S_1}\left(-m,n;[j]\right)$ and hence $N_{S_1}(m,n) = N_{S_1}(-m,n)$. For a fixed $j, 1 \le j \le N$, consider $\begin{bmatrix} N \\ j \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{j^2}(q)_j}{(zq)_j(z^{-1}q)_j}$. Since

$$\begin{bmatrix} N \\ j \end{bmatrix}$$
 $(q)_j = (q^{N-j+1})_j$, it is easy to see that it generates partitions π_1 described in (2.2).

Also, $\frac{q^{j^2}}{(zq)_j(z^{-1}q)_j}$ generates partitions π_2 with power of z keeping track of its rank. Hence we have the following generating function for $N_{S_1}(m, n)$.

Theorem 2.2. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} {N \brack j} \frac{q^{j^2}(q)_j}{(zq)_j(z^{-1}q)_j} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} N_{S_1}(m,n) z^m q^n.$$
 (2.4)

We call the left-hand side of (2.4) the finite analogue of the rank generating function, for letting $N \to \infty$ on both sides of (2.4), gives the well-known result for the rank generating function, namely, if N(m,n) denote the number of partitions of n with rank m, then [30, p. 66]

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} N(m,n) z^m q^n = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^{j^2}}{(zq)_j (z^{-1}q)_j}.$$

We also observe that when $n \leq N$, $N_{S_1}(m,n) = N(m,n)$. Indeed, $0 \leq |\pi_1| \leq n - j^2$ since π_2 contains at least a Durfee square of size j. However, $n - j^2 \leq N - j < N - j + 1$ implies that π_1 must be an empty partition and hence if Q(m,n,j) denote the number of partitions of n with rank m and size of their Durfee squares j, then

$$N_{S_1}(m,n) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} N_{S_1}\left(m,n; \boxed{j}\right) = \sum_{j=1}^{\left\lfloor \sqrt{n} \right\rfloor} Q(m,n,j) = N(m,n).$$

Moreover, note that using [17, Equation (16)] (see also [42, Section 265, p. 26]), when z = 1, the left-hand side of (2.4) reduces to $1/(q)_N$, the generating function of p(n, N), which is analogous to the rank-generating function reducing to $1/(q)_{\infty}$, the generating function of p(n).

While the rank of a partition could explain two of Ramanujan's three partition congruences, namely, $p(5n+4) \equiv 0 \pmod{5}$ and $p(7n+5) \equiv 0 \pmod{7}$, it could not explain his third congruence $p(11n+6) \equiv 0 \pmod{11}$. Hence Dyson [25] hypothesized the existence of another partition statistic that he called 'crank' that would do the job. Garvan [30] found the crank for vector partitions, and finally it was Andrews and Garvan [12] together who found the crank for an ordinary partition. They proved that

$$\frac{(q)_{\infty}}{(zq)_{\infty}(z^{-1}q)_{\infty}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} M(m,n) z^m q^n,$$

where M(m, n) is the number of partitions of n with crank m. In what follows, we obtain a finite analogue of the crank for vector partitions.

Let $V_2 = \mathcal{D} \times \mathcal{P} \times \mathcal{P}$ denote the set of vector partitions, where \mathcal{D} denotes the set of partitions into distinct parts and \mathcal{P} denotes the set of partitions. Denote an element $\vec{\pi}$ of V_2 by (π_1, π_2, π_3) such that $|\vec{\pi}| = |\pi_1| + |\pi_2| + |\pi_3|$. For any positive integer N, define S_2 by

$$S_2 := \{ \vec{\pi} \in V_2 : l(\pi_1), l(\pi_2), l(\pi_3) \le N \}.$$

Define $w_c(\vec{\pi}) = (-1)^{\#(\pi_1)}$ to be the weight of the vector partition $\vec{\pi}$ and $\operatorname{crank}(\vec{\pi}) = \#(\pi_2) - \#(\pi_3)$. Define

$$M_{S_2}(m,n) := \sum_{\substack{\vec{\pi} \in S_2, |\vec{\pi}| = n \\ \text{crank}(\vec{\pi}) = m}} w_c(\vec{\pi}), \tag{2.5}$$

that is, $M_{S_2}(m, n)$ denotes the number of vector partitions of n with crank m counted with weight $w_c(\vec{\pi})$. This implies $M_{S_2}(m, n) = M_{S_2}(-m, n)$. In view of the above, we have the following generating function for $M_{S_2}(m, n)$.

Theorem 2.3. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$\frac{(q)_N}{(zq)_N(z^{-1}q)_N} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} M_{S_2}(m,n) z^m q^n.$$
 (2.6)

The expressions on the left-hand sides of (2.4) and (2.6) have appeared in the literature, however, as far as we know, they have not been studied from a combinatorial standpoint. Indeed, from [4, p. 252, Theorem 2.1], [9, p. 263],

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(q)_n q^{n^2}}{(zq)_n (z^{-1}q)_n} = \frac{1}{(q)_N} + (1-z) \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-1)^n (q)_n q^{n(3n+1)/2}}{(q)_{n+N}} \left(\frac{1}{1-zq^n} - \frac{1}{z-q^n} \right), \tag{2.7}$$

and Andrews [4, p. 258, Theorem 4.1] showed that

$$\frac{(q)_N}{(zq)_N(z^{-1}q)_N} = \frac{1}{(q)_N} + (1-z)\sum_{n=1}^N \begin{bmatrix} N\\n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-1)^n (q)_n q^{n(n+1)/2}}{(q)_{n+N}} \left(\frac{1}{1-zq^n} - \frac{1}{z-q^n}\right). \quad (2.8)$$

Note that the right-hand sides of (2.7) and (2.8) are respectively the finite analogues of the bilateral series representations for the rank and crank generating functions [9, Equations (12.2.3), (12.2.9)].

For any positive integer k, we define the finite analogues of kth rank and crank moments respectively by

$$N_{k,N}(n) := \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} m^k N_{S_1}(m,n),$$
 (2.9)

$$M_{k,N}(n) := \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} m^k M_{S_2}(m,n),$$
 (2.10)

where $N_{S_1}(m,n)$ and $M_{S_2}(m,n)$ are defined in (2.3) and (2.5) respectively. It is easy to see that the odd finite rank and crank moments are equal to zero.

In 2008, Andrews [5] introduced smallest part partition function spt(n) to be the total number of appearances of the smallest parts in all partitions of n and proved that

$$spt(n) = np(n) - \frac{1}{2}N_2(n).$$
(2.11)

In view of Dyson's identity [26, Theorem 5]

$$np(n) = \frac{1}{2}M_2(n),$$
 (2.12)

this implies that

$$spt(n) = \frac{1}{2} (M_2(n) - N_2(n)).$$
(2.13)

We note in passing that Dyson's identity (2.12) was implicitly derived by Andrews [5, p. 136] in its analytical form.

We are now ready to state the finite analogue of (2.13).

Theorem 2.4. For any natural number N, we have

$$\operatorname{spt}(n,N) = \frac{1}{2} \left(M_{2,N}(n) - N_{2,N}(n) \right). \tag{2.14}$$

In other words,

$$\operatorname{spt}(n,N) = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} p(j,N)\sigma(n-j,N) - \frac{1}{2}N_{2,N}(n), \tag{2.15}$$

where

$$\sigma(k,N) = \sum_{\substack{d|k\\d>k/N}} d. \tag{2.16}$$

Letting $N \to \infty$ in either (2.14) or (2.15), we obtain Andrew's spt-identity (2.13). To obtain (2.13) from (2.15), one additionally needs to use Euler's recurrence relation $np(n) = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} p(j)\sigma(n-j)$. We now illustrate (2.15).

Example 1. Let N=3 and n=6. One can check that $\operatorname{spt}(6,3)=21$ and $\sum_{j=0}^5 p(j,3)\sigma(6-j,3)=1(11)+1(5)+2(6)+3(4)+4(3)+5(1)+7(0)=57$. Next,

$$N_{2,3}(n) = \sum_{m=-5}^{5} m^2 \sum_{j=1}^{3} N_{S_1}(m, 6; [j])$$

$$= 50 \sum_{j=1}^{3} N_{S_1}(5, 6; [j]) + 32 \sum_{j=1}^{3} N_{S_1}(4, 6; [j]) + 18 \sum_{j=1}^{3} N_{S_1}(3, 6; [j])$$

$$+ 8 \sum_{j=1}^{3} N_{S_1}(2, 6; [j]) + 2 \sum_{j=1}^{3} N_{S_1}(1, 6; [j])$$

$$= 50(1) + 32(0) + 18(1) + 8(0) + 2(2)$$

$$= 72.$$

Thus,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{5} p(j,3)\sigma(6-j,3) - \frac{1}{2}N_{2,3}(n) = 57 - 36 = 21 = \operatorname{spt}(6,3),$$

as stated by (2.15).

An immediate application of Theorem 2.4 is an inequality between the finite analogues of rank and crank moments.

Corollary 2.5. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$ be fixed. Then for all $n \geq 1$,

$$M_{2,N}(n) > N_{2,N}(n).$$

The asymptotic estimate of $\operatorname{spt}(n, N)$ is now given.

Theorem 2.6. For any positive integer N, as $n \to \infty$,

$$\operatorname{spt}(n, N) = \frac{n^N}{(N!)^2} + O(n^{N-1}).$$

As will be shown in this paper, one could also follow Andrews' approach in [5] to derive Theorem 2.4, however, deriving it from Theorem 1.4 gives a uniform approach in obtaining such identities. Indeed, Theorem 2.1 is but one special case, namely when $c \to 1$, of Theorem 1.4. Its other special case c = -1 is discussed in Section 6. It is concerned with a finite analogue of $N_{SC}(n)$, the number of self-conjugate S-partitions counted with a certain specific weight [13, Equation (1.10)]. Similarly the case c = 0, discussed in Section 7, gives a relation between d(n, N) and lpt(n, N), the number of occurrences of the largest parts in those partitions π of n in which the largest parts are $\leq N$.

In order to derive our results involving the finite analogue of $N_{SC}(n)$, it became imperative to generalize a result of George Beck [15, A034296] recently proved by Chern [23, Theorem 1.2]. Let $\operatorname{ssptd}_o(n)$ denote the sum of the smallest parts in all partitions of n into distinct parts which are odd in number and let a(n) denote the number of compact partitions of n [7], that is, the partitions in which every number between their largest and smallest parts also appears as a part, or by conjugation, the number of partitions of n in which only the largest part can repeat. Then the Beck-Chern result is that $a(n) = \operatorname{ssptd}_o(n)$. Our finite analogue of this theorem is now given.

Theorem 2.7. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Let a(n, N) denote the number of partitions of n with $l(\pi) \leq N$ in which only the largest part may repeat. Let $\operatorname{ssptd}_o(n, N)$ denote the sum of smallest parts in all partitions π of n into odd number of distinct parts, and satisfying $l(\pi) - s(\pi) \leq N - 1$. Then

$$a(n,N) = \operatorname{ssptd}_o(n,N) - \operatorname{ssptd}_o(n-N,N). \tag{2.17}$$

The form of the above finite analogue is reminiscent of (1.6). Of course, the Beck-Chern result is immediately recovered upon letting $N \to \infty$ in (2.17), or when $n \le N$.

Example 2. Here is an example illustrating Theorem 2.7. Let N=3 and n=8. The relevant partitions enumerated by a(8,3) are 2+2+2+2+2, 3+3+2, 1+1+1+1+1+1+1+1+1+1+1. Thus a(8,3)=3. Now the only partition of 8 which qualifies while calculating $\mathrm{ssptd}_o(8,3)$ is 8. Hence $\mathrm{ssptd}_o(8,3)=8$. Similarly, there is only one partition of n-N=5 which is to be considered while calculating $\mathrm{ssptd}_o(5,3)$, and that is 5 itself. Hence $\mathrm{ssptd}_o(5,3)=5$. Thus, $\mathrm{ssptd}_o(8,3)-\mathrm{ssptd}_o(5,3)=8-5=3=a(8,3)$, as guaranteed by Theorem 2.7.

We also obtain other new results in addition to the ones stated above. These are given in the lemmas before proving some of the stated results. These include the partial fraction expansion of a finite analogue of Fine's function defined in (1.16), a finite analogue of the Rogers-Fine identity.

This paper is organized as follows. The preliminary results are collected in Section 3. The proofs of Theorem 1.1, its corollaries as well as a proof of Theorem 1.4 is given in Section 4. The theory of $\operatorname{spt}(n,N)$ is developed in Section 5. In Section 6, we give two proofs of our finite analogue of the Beck-Chern theorem and also develop the theory of $N_{\operatorname{SC}}(n,N)$. One of the proofs also gives an interesting result along the way (see (6.11) below). A further corollary of Theorem 1.4, which gives a nice relation between d(n,N) and $\operatorname{lpt}(n,N)$, is stated and proved in Section 7. Section 9 is devoted to proving Theorem 1.3 and its corollaries. In the same section, we also initiate the theory of $F_N(\alpha,\beta;\tau)$, a finite analogue of Fine's function, by obtaining its partial fraction decomposition and a finite analogue of Rogers-Fine identity. We end the paper with some concluding remarks in Section 10.

3. Preliminaries

The q-binomial theorem is given by [2, p. 17, Equation (2.2.1)]

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_n z^n}{(q)_n} = \frac{(az)_{\infty}}{(z)_{\infty}} \quad (|z| < 1).$$
 (3.1)

From [2, p. 36, Equations (3.3.6), (3.3.7)], we have

$$(z)_{N} = \sum_{n=0}^{N} {N \brack n} (-1)^{n} z^{n} q^{n(n-1)/2},$$

$$\frac{1}{(z)_{N}} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} {N+j-1 \brack j} z^{j}.$$
(3.2)

The q-Chu-Vandermonde identity is given by [35, p. 354, II(6)]

$$_{2}\phi_{1}\begin{bmatrix} a, q^{-M} \\ d \end{bmatrix}; q, q = \frac{(d/a)_{M}a^{M}}{(d)_{M}},$$
 (3.3)

where the basic hypergeometric series $_{r+1}\phi_r$ is defined as

$${}_{r+1}\phi_r\begin{bmatrix}a_1,a_2,\ldots,a_{r+1}\\b_1,b_2,\ldots,b_r;q,z\end{bmatrix}:=\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\frac{(a_1;q)_n(a_2;q)_n\cdots(a_{r+1};q)_n}{(q;q)_n(b_1;q)_n\cdots(b_r;q)_n}z^n.$$

We also need [22, Corollary 1.2]

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N} {N \brack n} \frac{(-1/a)_n (ac)^n q^{n(n+1)/2}}{(cq)_n} = \frac{(-acq)_N}{(cq)_N}.$$
 (3.4)

The partial fraction decomposition of F(a, b; t), defined in (1.16), is given by [27, p. 18, Equation (16.3)]

$$F(a,b;t) = \frac{(aq)_{\infty}}{(bq)_{\infty}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(b/a)_n}{(q)_n} \frac{(aq)^n}{1 - tq^n}.$$
 (3.5)

We also note [27, p. 5, Equation (6.3)]

$$F(a,b;t) = \frac{1-b}{1-t}F\left(\frac{at}{b},t;b\right). \tag{3.6}$$

The Heine transformation [2, p. 19, Corollary 2.3] is given by

$${}_{2}\phi_{1}\begin{bmatrix}a,b\\c;q,z\end{bmatrix} = \frac{(b,az;q)_{\infty}}{(c,z;q)_{\infty}} {}_{2}\phi_{1}\begin{bmatrix}\frac{c}{b},z\\az;q,b\end{bmatrix}, \tag{3.7}$$

whereas the finite Heine transformation, due to Andrews [6, Theorem 2], is

$${}_{3}\phi_{2}\begin{bmatrix}q^{-N}, & \alpha, & \beta\\ \gamma, & \frac{q^{1-N}}{\tau}\end{bmatrix}; q, q = \frac{(\beta, \alpha\tau; q)_{N}}{(\gamma, \tau; q)_{N}} {}_{3}\phi_{2}\begin{bmatrix}q^{-N}, & \frac{\gamma}{\beta}, & \tau\\ \alpha\tau, & \frac{q^{1-N}}{\beta}\end{bmatrix}; q, q. \qquad (3.8)$$

We also need a corollary of (3.8) given below [6, Corollary 3, Equation 2.7].

$${}_{3}\phi_{2}\begin{bmatrix}q^{-N}, & \alpha, & \beta\\ \gamma, & \frac{q^{1-N}}{\tau}\end{bmatrix}; q, q = \frac{(\frac{\gamma}{\beta}, \beta\tau; q)_{N}}{(\gamma, \tau; q)_{N}} {}_{3}\phi_{2}\begin{bmatrix}q^{-N}, & \frac{\alpha\beta\tau}{\gamma}, & \beta\\ \beta\tau, & \frac{\beta q^{1-N}}{\gamma}\end{bmatrix}; q, q$$
(3.9)

A special case of (3.8), given by Rowell and Yee [48, Lemma 3], is

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-\alpha)_n (\tau q)^n}{(\tau q^{N+1-n})_n} = \frac{(-\alpha \tau q)_N}{(\tau q)_N}.$$
(3.10)

Watson's q-analogue of Whipple's theorem [35, p. 360, III.18] is given by

It is to be understood that the derivation of infinite series identities obtained by letting $N \to \infty$ in their respective finite analogues employs Tannery's theorem [21, p. 136].

4. Proofs of Theorem 1.1, its corollaries and of Theorem 1.4

The two general identities, namely, Theorems 1.1 and Theorem 1.4, will be proved in this Section.

Proof of Theorem 1.1. From [35, p. 70, Equation (3.2.1)], we have

$${}_{4}\phi_{3}\begin{bmatrix}q^{-N}, & A, & B, & C\\ D, & E, & \frac{ABCq^{1-N}}{DE}\end{bmatrix}; q, q\end{bmatrix} = \frac{(\frac{E}{A})N(\frac{DE}{BC})_{N}}{(E)N(\frac{DE}{ABC})_{N}} {}_{4}\phi_{3}\begin{bmatrix}q^{-N}, & A, & \frac{D}{B}, & \frac{D}{C}\\ D, & \frac{DE}{BC}, & \frac{Aq^{1-N}}{E}\end{bmatrix}; q, q\end{bmatrix}.$$

Let A=q, $B=\frac{bq}{a}$, C=cq, D=bq and $E=cq^2$ in the above identity so that

$$\sum_{n=0}^N \frac{(q^{-N})_n(\frac{bq}{a})_n(1-cq)}{(bq)_n(1-cq^{n+1})(\frac{q^{1-N}}{a})_n} q^n = \frac{(1-cq)(1-aq^N)}{(1-cq^{N+1})} \sum_{n=0}^N \frac{(q^{-N})_n(\frac{b}{c})_n}{(bq)_n(1-aq^n)(\frac{q^{-N}}{c})_n} q^n.$$

Employing

$$\left(\frac{q^{-N}}{c}\right)_n = \frac{(-1)^n (cq^{N-n+1})_n q^{\frac{n(n-1)}{2}}}{c^n q^{Nn}},$$
(4.1)

$$\frac{(q^{-N})_n}{\left(\frac{q^{-N}}{c}\right)_n} = \frac{(q^{N-n+1})_n c^n}{(cq^{N-n+1})_n} = \frac{(q)_N (cq)_{N-n} c^n}{(q)_{N-n} (cq)_N}$$
(4.2)

in the above equation, we see that

$$\sum_{n=0}^N \frac{(q)_N(a)_{N-n}(\frac{bq}{a})_n}{(bq)_n(1-cq^{n+1})(q)_{N-n}(a)_{N+1}} a^n = \sum_{n=0}^N \frac{(q)_N(cq)_{N-n}(\frac{b}{c})_n(cq)^n}{(1-aq^n)(q)_{N-n}(cq)_{N+1}(bq)_n}.$$

Now multiply both sides by $\frac{(a-b)(1-q^{N+1})}{1-b}$, and replace n by n-1 in both the resulting sums to deduce

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N+1} \frac{(q)_{N+1}(a)_{N-n+1}(\frac{b}{a})_n a^n}{(b)_n (1-cq^n)(q)_{N-n+1}(a)_{N+1}} = \sum_{n=1}^{N+1} \frac{(q)_{N+1}(cq)_{N-n+1}(\frac{b}{c})_{n-1}(cq)^{n-1}(a-b)}{(q)_{N-n+1}(cq)_{N+1}(b)_{n-1}(1-aq^{n-1})(1-bq^{n-1})}.$$

On the right-hand side of the above equation write

$$\frac{(a-b)q^{n-1}}{(1-aq^{n-1})(1-bq^{n-1})} = \frac{aq^{n-1}}{1-aq^{n-1}} - \frac{bq^{n-1}}{1-bq^{n-1}},$$

and replace N by N-1 on both sides to finally obtain (1.11).

The special cases of Theorem 1.2 are now given. First given below is an identity of Yan and Fu [52, Equation (4)] whose limiting case $N \to \infty$ is the aforementioned identity of Yan and Fu [52, p. 117] rediscovered by Andrews, Garvan and Liang [13, Theorem 3.5].

Corollary 4.1. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. For $c \neq q^{-n}, 1 \leq n \leq N$,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} {N \brack n} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}}{(1-cq^n)} = \frac{1}{1-c} \left(1 - \frac{(q)_N}{(cq)_N}\right).$$

Proof. Let z=1 in Theorem 1.2 and use the elementary identity $(cq)_{N-n}/(cq)_N=1/(cq^{N+1-n})_n$ to obtain

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} {N \brack n} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}}{(1-cq^n)} = \frac{1}{c-1} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(1/c)_n (cq)^n}{(q)_n} \frac{(q^{N+1-n})_n}{(cq^{N+1-n})_n}$$

$$= \frac{1}{c-1} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(1/c)_n q^n}{(q)_n} \frac{(q^{-N})_n}{\left(\frac{q^{-N}}{c}\right)_n}, \tag{4.3}$$

where in the last step, we used (4.2). Now use the q-Chu-Vandermonde identity (3.3) with a = 1/c, M = N, and $d = q^{-N}/c$ to deduce

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N} \frac{(1/c)_n q^n}{(q)_n} \frac{(q^{-N})_n}{\left(\frac{q^{-N}}{c}\right)_n} = \frac{(q^{-N})_N}{\left(\frac{q^{-N}}{c}\right)_N c^N} = \frac{(q)_N}{(cq)_N}.$$
(4.4)

Substituting (4.4) in (4.3) completes the proof.

Following is a finite analogue of Ramanujan's identity (1.8).

Corollary 4.2. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. For any $z \neq q^{-n}$ for $1 \leq n \leq N$, we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} z^n q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}} (q)_n}{(1-q^n) (zq)_n} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{zq^n}{1-zq^n}.$$

Proof. Let c = 1 in Theorem 1.2.

Corollary 4.3. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. For $c \neq q^{-n}, 1 \leq n \leq N$,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} {N \brack n} \frac{q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}(q)_n}{(1-cq^n)(-q)_n} = \frac{1}{c} \sum_{n=1}^{N} {N \brack n} \frac{(-q/c)_{n-1}(q)_n(cq)_{N-n}(cq)^n}{(-q)_n(cq)_N}. \tag{4.5}$$

Proof. Let
$$z = -1$$
 in Theorem 1.2.

One may also specialize z and c in terms of $q^m, m \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$, to obtain other corollaries.

Note that when c = 0, either side of (4.5) gives a finite analogue of $\sigma(q)$ defined in (1.13). We define this finite analogue by $\sigma(q, N)$ so that

$$\sigma(q, N) := \sum_{n=0}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(q)_n q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}}{(-q)_n}.$$
 (4.6)

The partition-theoretic interpretation of (4.6) is now given. Let S_1 be defined as in (2.2). Let $\vec{\pi} \in S_1$. Define $w_2(\vec{\pi}) := (-1)^{\#(\pi_1) + \operatorname{rank}(\pi_2)}$. Then

$$\sigma(q, N) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{\substack{n=1 \ |\vec{\pi} \in S_1 \\ |\vec{\pi}| = m}}^{N} w_2(\vec{\pi}) \right) q^m.$$

We now state and prove another corollary of Theorem 1.1.

Corollary 4.4. For $N \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(q)_{n-1}(q)_n (zq)_{N-n} (zq)^n}{(zq)_n (zq)_N (1-cq^n)} = z \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(zq/c)_{n-1}(q)_n (cq)_{N-n} c^{n-1} q^n}{(zq)_n (cq)_N (1-zq^n)}.$$

Proof. Divide both sides of Theorem 1.1 by 1-b/a, let $b \to a$, then replace a by zq and simplify.

This result, in turn, has two nice corollaries, the first of which is a generalization of an identity of Corteel and Lovejoy [22, p. 1631].

Corollary 4.5. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Then,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^n}{1 - q^{2n}} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} (-1)^{n-1} \frac{(-q)_{n-1}(-q)_{N-n}}{(-q)_N} \frac{q^n}{1 - q^n}.$$

Proof. Let z = -c = 1 in Corollary 4.4.

Corollary 4.6. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and |q| < 1. Then,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} {N \brack n} \frac{(q)_{n-1}(q)_n(-q)_{N-n}}{(-q)_{n-1}(-q)_N} \frac{(-q)^n}{1-q^{2n}} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n(-q)^n(1-q^{Nn})}{1-q^n}.$$

Proof. Let c = -z = 1 in Corollary 4.4 and note that $\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{-q^n}{(1+q^n)^2} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n(-q)^n (1-q^{Nn})}{1-q^n}$.

Before embarking upon the proof of Theorem 1.4, which is responsible for much of the content in the sequel, we begin with a lemma.

Lemma 4.7. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}, |q| < 1$ and |cq| < 1. For $c \neq q^{-n}, 1 \leq n \leq N$,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{n-1}q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}}{(1-cq^n)(q)_n(q)_{N-n}} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{q^k}{1-q^k}\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{n(n+1)}}{(q)_n(1-q^n)} F(q^N, q^n; cq^n),$$

where F(a, b; t) is the Fine's function defined in (1.16).

Proof. Using van Hamme's identity (1.4), we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}}{(1 - cq^n)(q)_n(q)_{N-n}} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{q^k}{1 - q^k} \right) \\
= \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}}{(1 - cq^n)(q)_{N-n}} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k-1} q^{k(k+1)/2}}{(q)_k(q)_{n-k}(1 - q^k)} \\
= \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{k-1} q^{k(k+1)/2}}{(q)_k(1 - q^k)} \sum_{n=k}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}}{(1 - cq^n)(q)_{N-n}(q)_{n-k}} \\
= \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{q^{k(k+1)}}{(q)_k(1 - q^k)} \sum_{m=0}^{N-k} \frac{(-1)^m q^{\frac{m(m+1)}{2} + mk}}{(1 - cq^{m+k})(q)_{N-m-k}(q)_m} \\
= \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{q^{k(k+1)}}{(q)_k(q)_{N-k}(1 - q^k)} \sum_{m=0}^{N-k} \frac{(q^{-(N-k)})_m q^{(N+1)m}}{(q)_m(1 - cq^{m+k})}, \tag{4.7}$$

where in the last step, we used (4.1) with N and n replaced by N-k and m respectively. Now use (3.5) with $a=q^N, b=q^k$ and $t=cq^k$ for the inner sum so that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{q^{k(k+1)}}{(q)_k(q)_{N-k}(1-q^k)} \sum_{m=0}^{N-k} \frac{\left(q^{-(N-k)}\right)_m q^{(N+1)m}}{(q)_m(1-cq^{m+k})}$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{q^{k(k+1)}}{(q)_k(1-q^k)} \frac{(q^{k+1})_{\infty}}{(q)_{N-k}(q^{N+1})_{\infty}} F(q^N, q^k; cq^k)$$

UNTRODDEN PATHWAYS IN THE THEORY OF THE RESTRICTED PARTITION FUNCTION p(n, N) 17

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{N} {N \brack k} \frac{q^{k(k+1)}}{(q)_k (1-q^k)} F(q^N, q^k; cq^k). \tag{4.8}$$

Substituting (4.8) in (4.7) completes the proof.

Proof of Theorem 1.4. Differentiate both sides of Theorem 1.2 with respect to z and then let z = 1 so as to obtain

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}}{(1 - cq^n)(q)_n(q)_{N-n}} \left(n + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{q^k}{1 - q^k} \right)
= \frac{1}{c} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(q/c)_{n-1} (cq)_{N-n} (cq)^n}{(q)_n (cq)_N (q)_{N-n}}
+ \frac{1}{c} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(q/c)_{n-1} (cq)_{N-n} (cq)^n}{(q)_n (cq)_N (q)_{N-n}} \left(-\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \frac{q^k/c}{1 - q^k/c} + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{q^k}{1 - q^k} \right)
=: S_1 + S_2.$$
(4.9)

From Theorem 1.2 with z = 1 and Corollary 4.1,

$$S_1 = \frac{1}{(1-c)(q)_N} \left(1 - \frac{(q)_N}{(cq)_N} \right). \tag{4.10}$$

A result of Guo and Zhang [37, Corollary 3.1] states that if $n \ge 0$ and $0 \le m \le n$,

$$\sum_{\substack{k=0\\k\neq m}}^{n} \begin{bmatrix} n\\k \end{bmatrix} \frac{(q/x)_k(x)_{n-k}}{1-q^{k-m}} x^k$$

$$= (-1)^m q^{\frac{m(m+1)}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ m \end{bmatrix} (xq^{-m})_n \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{xq^{k-m}}{1 - xq^{k-m}} - \sum_{\substack{k=0 \ k \neq m}}^n \frac{q^{k-m}}{1 - q^{k-m}} \right).$$

Letting m=0 in the above identity and simplifying leads to

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{q^k}{1 - q^k} - \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \frac{xq^k}{1 - xq^k} = \frac{x}{1 - x} - \frac{1}{(x)_n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ k \end{bmatrix} \frac{(q/x)_k(x)_{n-k} x^k}{1 - q^k}.$$
 (4.11)

Employing (4.11) with x = 1/c to simplify the expression in parenthesis in S_2 and using (4.10) in the last step below, it is seen that

$$S_{2} = \frac{1}{c} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(q/c)_{n-1} (cq)_{N-n} (cq)^{n}}{(q)_{n} (cq)_{N} (q)_{N-n}} \left(\frac{1}{c-1} - \frac{1}{(1/c)_{n}} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ k \end{bmatrix} \frac{(qc)_{k} (1/c)_{n-k} c^{-k}}{1-q^{k}} \right)$$

$$= \frac{-1}{(1-c)^{2} (q)_{N}} \left(1 - \frac{(q)_{N}}{(cq)_{N}} \right) + S_{2}^{*}, \tag{4.12}$$

where

$$S_2^* = \frac{1}{(1-c)(cq)_N} \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{(cq)_{N-n}(cq)^n}{(q)_n(q)_{N-n}} \sum_{k=1}^n \begin{bmatrix} n \\ k \end{bmatrix} \frac{(qc)_k (1/c)_{n-k} c^{-k}}{1-q^k}.$$
 (4.13)

Next we simplify S_2^* . Note that

$$S_2^* = \frac{1}{(1-c)(cq)_N} \sum_{k=1}^N \frac{(cq)_k q^k}{(q)_k (1-q^k)} \sum_{j=0}^{N-k} \frac{(1/c)_j (cq)^j (cq)_{N-j-k}}{(q)_j (q)_{N-j-k}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(1-c)(cq)_N} \sum_{k=1}^N \frac{(cq)_k (cq)_{N-k} q^k}{(q)_k (1-q^k)(q)_{N-k}} \sum_{j=0}^{N-k} \frac{(1/c)_j q^j (q^{-(N-k)})_j}{(q)_j (q^{-(N-k)}/c)_j},$$

where in the last step, we used (4.2) with N replaced by N - k and n replaced by j. Now apply q-Chu-Vandermonde identity (3.3) with a = 1/c, M = N - k, and $d = q^{-(N-k)}/c$ to see that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{N-k} \frac{(1/c)_j q^j \left(q^{-(N-k)}\right)_j}{(q)_j \left(q^{-(N-k)}/c\right)_j} = \frac{(q)_{N-k}}{(cq)_{N-k}},\tag{4.14}$$

where we again employed (4.2) with N and n both replaced by N - k. Substituting (4.14) in (4.13) we derive

$$S_2^* = \frac{1}{(1-c)(cq)_N} \sum_{k=1}^N \frac{(cq)_k q^k}{(q)_k (1-q^k)}$$

so that from (4.12),

$$S_2 = \frac{-1}{(1-c)^2(q)_N} \left(1 - \frac{(q)_N}{(cq)_N} \right) + \frac{1}{(1-c)(cq)_N} \sum_{k=1}^N \frac{(cq)_k q^k}{(q)_k (1-q^k)}, \tag{4.15}$$

and hence from (4.9), (4.10) and (4.15).

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{n-1}q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}}{(1-cq^n)(q)_n(q)_{N-n}} \left(n + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{q^k}{1-q^k}\right) \\ &= \frac{-c}{(1-c)^2(q)_N} \left(1 - \frac{(q)_N}{(cq)_N}\right) + \frac{1}{(1-c)(cq)_N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{(cq)_k q^k}{(q)_k (1-q^k)}. \end{split}$$

Finally, invoke Lemma 4.7 in the above equation to arrive at (1.17).

5. A FINITE ANALOGUE OF ANDREWS' IDENTITY FOR spt(n)

Proof of Theorem 2.1. Let $c \to 1$ on both sides of (1.17) to get

$$\frac{1}{(q)_N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} n q^{n(n+1)/2}}{1 - q^n} + \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{n(n+1)}}{(q)_n (1 - q^n)} F(q^N, q^n; q^n) = L(q, N), \quad (5.1)$$

where

$$L(q,N) := \lim_{c \to 1} \left[\frac{c}{(1-c)^2(q)_N} \left\{ \frac{(q)_N}{(cq)_N} - 1 \right\} + \frac{1}{(cq)_N(1-c)} \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{(cq)_n}{(q)_n} \frac{q^n}{1-q^n} \right].$$

Let

$$S := \sum_{n=1}^{N} {N \brack n} \frac{q^{n(n+1)}}{(q)_n (1-q^n)} F(q^N, q^n; q^n).$$
 (5.2)

From [27, p. 13, Equation (12.2)], we know that

$$F(a,b;t) = \frac{1}{1-t} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(b/a)_n (-at)^n q^{n(n+1)/2}}{(bq)_n (tq)_n}.$$

Using the above representation with $a = q^N$ and $b = t = q^n$ in (5.2) and then employing (4.1) with n replaced by j and N replaced by N - n in the second step below, we have

$$S = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{n(n+1)}}{(q)_n (1-q^n)^2} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{\left(q^{-(N-n)}\right)_j (-1)^j q^{(N+n)j} q^{j(j+1)/2}}{(q^{n+1})_j^2}$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{n(n+1)}}{(q)_n (1-q^n)^2} \sum_{j=0}^{N-n} \frac{q^{j^2+2nj} (q)_{N-n}}{(q)_{N-n-j} (q^{n+1})_j^2}$$

$$= (q)_N \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^{n(n+1)}}{(q)_n^2 (1-q^n)^2} \sum_{j=0}^{N-n} \frac{q^{j^2+2nj}}{(q)_{N-n-j} (q^{n+1})_j^2}$$

$$= (q)_N \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^n}{(1-q^n)^2} \sum_{j=0}^{N-n} \frac{q^{(j+n)^2}}{(q)_{N-n-j} (q)_{n+j}^2}$$

$$= (q)_N \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^n}{(1-q^n)^2} \sum_{j=n}^{N} \frac{q^{j^2}}{(q)_{N-j} (q)_j^2}$$

$$= (q)_N \sum_{j=1}^{N} \frac{q^j}{(q)_{N-j} (q)_j^2} \sum_{n=1}^{j} \frac{q^n}{(1-q^n)^2}.$$
(5.3)

To evaluate L(q, N), first let $\tau = 1$ and $\alpha = -c$ in (3.10) to obtain

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N} \frac{(c)_n q^n}{(q)_n} = \frac{(cq)_N}{(q)_N}.$$

Using this in the second step below, we see that

$$L = \lim_{c \to 1} \frac{1}{(cq)_N} \left[\frac{c}{(1-c)^2} \left(1 - \frac{(cq)_N}{(q)_N} \right) + \frac{1}{(1-c)} \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{(cq)_n}{(q)_n} \frac{q^n}{1-q^n} \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{(q)_N} \lim_{c \to 1} \left[\frac{c}{(c-1)} \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{(cq)_{n-1}q^n}{(q)_n} + \frac{1}{(1-c)} \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{(cq)_n}{(q)_n} \frac{q^n}{1-q^n} \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{(q)_N} \lim_{c \to 1} \left[\frac{1}{(1-c)} \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{(cq)_{n-1}q^n}{(q)_n} \left(-c + \frac{1-cq^n}{1-q^n} \right) \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{(q)_N} \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{q^n}{(1-q^n)^2}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(q)_N} \left(\sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{q^n}{(1-q^n)^2} - \sum_{n=N+1}^\infty \frac{q^n}{(1-q^n)^2} \right)$$
(5.4)

$$= \frac{1}{(q)_N} \left(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} m \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (q^m)^n - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} m \sum_{n=N+1}^{\infty} (q^m)^n \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{(q)_N} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{mq^m (1 - q^{Nm})}{1 - q^m}.$$
(5.5)

Now substitute (5.3) and (5.5) in (5.1) to complete the proof.

As remarked in Section 2, we now show that Theorem 2.1 is nothing but the analytical version of Theorem 2.4. We first need a lemma.

Lemma 5.1. We have

$$(q)_N = \sum_{n=1}^{N+1} {N+1 \brack n} (-1)^{n-1} nq^{n(n-1)/2}.$$

Proof. Replace N by N+1 in (3.2) and then differentiate both sides with respect to z so as to obtain

$$-(z)_{N+1} \sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{q^k}{1 - zq^k} = \sum_{n=0}^{N+1} \begin{bmatrix} N+1 \\ n \end{bmatrix} (-1)^n nz^{n-1} q^{n(n-1)/2}.$$

Now let $z \to 1$ and observe that the left hand side becomes $-(1-q)(1-q^2)\cdots(1-q^N)$, and thus we have the result.

First proof of Theorem 2.4. We begin by proving

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{spt}(n, N) q^n = \frac{1}{(q)_N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} n q^{n(n+1)/2}}{1 - q^n}, \tag{5.6}$$

where $\operatorname{spt}(n, N)$ is given in Definition 1. By a simple combinatorial argument, one can see that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{spt}(n, N) q^n = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^n}{(1 - q^n)^2 (1 - q^{n+1}) \cdots (1 - q^N)}.$$
 (5.7)

Let A(q, N) and B(q, N) denote the right-hand sides of (5.7) and (5.6) respectively. It suffices to show that A(q, N) = B(q, N). We apply induction on N to prove this. Note that

$$A(q,1) = B(q,1) = \frac{q}{(1-q)^2}.$$

By induction hypothesis, assume that A(q, N) = B(q, N). We then show that A(q, N + 1) = B(q, N + 1). This is done by showing that both A(q, N) and B(q, N) satisfy the recurrence relation

$$f(q, N+1) = \frac{f(q, N)}{1 - q^{N+1}} + \frac{q^{N+1}}{(1 - q^{N+1})^2}.$$

Clearly A(q, N) satisfies the above recurrence relation. To prove that B(q, N) does so too, we first separate the (N + 1)-th term in B(q, N + 1) so that

$$B(q, N+1) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} n q^{n(n+1)/2}}{(q)_n (1-q^n)(q)_{N-n}} \frac{1}{(1-q^{N+1-n})} + \frac{(-1)^N (N+1) q^{(N+1)(N+2)/2}}{(q)_{N+1} (1-q^{N+1})}.$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} B(q,N+1) - \frac{B(q,N)}{1-q^{N+1}} &= \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} n q^{n(n-1)/2}}{(q)_n(q)_{N+1-n}} \frac{q^{N+1}}{(1-q^{N+1})} + \frac{(-1)^N (N+1) q^{(N+1)(N+2)/2}}{(q)_{N+1} (1-q^{N+1})} \\ &= \frac{q^{N+1}}{(1-q^{N+1})} \sum_{n=1}^{N+1} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} n q^{n(n-1)/2}}{(q)_n(q)_{N+1-n}} \\ &= \frac{q^{N+1}}{(1-q^{N+1})(q)_{N+1}} \sum_{n=1}^{N+1} \begin{bmatrix} N+1\\ n \end{bmatrix} (-1)^{n-1} n q^{n(n-1)/2} \\ &= \frac{q^{N+1}}{(1-q^{N+1})^2}, \end{split}$$

by an application of Lemma 5.1. This proves (5.6).

Next, we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} {N \brack j} \frac{q^{j^2}}{(q)_j} \sum_{k=1}^{j} \frac{q^k}{(1-q^k)^2} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d^2}{dz^2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{N} {N \brack j} \frac{q^{j^2}(q)_j}{(zq)_j(z^{-1}q)_j} \right)_{z=1}, \tag{5.8}$$

$$\frac{1}{(q)_N} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{nq^n (1 - q^{Nn})}{1 - q^n} = \frac{1}{(q)_N} \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{q^n}{(1 - q^n)^2} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d^2}{dz^2} \left(\frac{(q)_N}{(zq)_N (z^{-1}q)_N} \right)_{z=1}, \quad (5.9)$$

both of which are easily proved by routine differentiation techniques, with the first equality in (5.9) resulting from (5.4) and (5.5). Thus from (5.6), (5.8), (5.9) and Theorem 2.1, we deduce that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{spt}(n, N) q^n = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d^2}{dz^2} \left(\frac{(q)_N}{(zq)_N (z^{-1}q)_N} \right)_{z=1} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{d^2}{dz^2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^N \begin{bmatrix} N \\ j \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{j^2}(q)_j}{(zq)_j (z^{-1}q)_j} \right)_{z=1}.$$
(5.10)

Now from Theorem 2.2 and (2.9) and the fact that any odd finite rank moment is equal to zero, we see that

$$\frac{d^2}{dz^2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^N \begin{bmatrix} N \\ j \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{j^2}(q)_j}{(zq)_j(z^{-1}q)_j} \right)_{z=1} = \sum_{n=1}^\infty N_{2,N}(n)q^n.$$
 (5.11)

Similarly from Theorem 2.3 and (2.10),

$$\frac{d^2}{dz^2} \left(\frac{(q)_N}{(zq)_N (z^{-1}q)_N} \right)_{z=1} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} M_{2,N}(n) q^n.$$
 (5.12)

Thus from (5.10), (5.11) and (5.12), we arrive at (2.14).

To prove (2.15), first note that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{nq^n(1-q^{Nn})}{1-q^n} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} nq^{mn} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=N+1}^{\infty} nq^{mn}.$$

Clearly,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} n q^{mn} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{n|k} n \right) q^k.$$

As for the second sum, let mn = k. Then k = mn > Nn. Hence

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=N+1}^{\infty} nq^{mn} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{\substack{n|k\\n < k/N}} n\right) q^k,$$

and so

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{nq^n(1-q^{Nn})}{1-q^n} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sigma(k, N)q^k,$$

where $\sigma(k, N)$ is defined in (2.16). Hence

$$\frac{1}{(q)_N} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{nq^n (1 - q^{Nn})}{1 - q^n} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} p(j, n) \sigma(n - j, N) \right) q^n.$$
 (5.13)

Therefore from Theorem 2.1, (5.6), (5.11) and (5.13), we arrive at (2.15).

As mentioned in Section 2, we now offer another proof of Theorem 2.4 closely following Andrews' proof of (2.11) in [5].

Second proof of Theorem 2.4. Let $a \to 1, d = e^{-1} = z$ followed by $b, c \to \infty$ in Watson's q-analogue of Whipple's theorem (3.11) so as to obtain after simplification

$$1 + (1 - z)(1 - z^{-1}) \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(-1)^n (1 + q^n) q^{\frac{n(3n+1)}{2}} (q)_N^2}{(1 - zq^n)(1 - z^{-1}q^n)(q)_{N-n}(q)_{N+n}}$$
$$= \frac{(q)_N^2}{(zq)_N (z^{-1}q)_N} \sum_{n=0}^{N} \frac{(z)_n (z^{-1})_n q^n}{(q)_n}.$$

Applying the operator $\frac{d^2}{dz^2}\Big|_{z=1}$ on both sides while using [5, Equation (2.1)], we deduce after simplification

$$\frac{1}{(q)_N} \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{(q)_{n-1}q^n}{(1-q^n)} = \frac{1}{(q)_N} \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{q^n}{(1-q^n)^2} + \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{(-1)^n (1+q^n) q^{\frac{n(3n+1)}{2}}(q)_N}{(1-q^n)^2 (q)_{N-n}(q)_{N+n}}.$$

Now (5.7), (5.9) and (5.12) imply

$$\frac{1}{(q)_N} \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{(q)_{n-1} q^n}{(1-q^n)} = \sum_{n=1}^\infty \operatorname{spt}(n, N) q^n,$$
$$\frac{1}{(q)_N} \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{q^n}{(1-q^n)^2} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=1}^\infty M_{2,N}(n) q^n.$$

Hence it suffices to show that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(-1)^n (1+q^n) q^{\frac{n(3n+1)}{2}}(q)_N}{(1-q^n)^2 (q)_{N-n}(q)_{N+n}} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} N_{2,N}(n) q^n.$$

From,

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}N_{2,N}(n)q^n\\ &=\frac{d^2}{dz^2}\left[\frac{(1-z)}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{N} \begin{bmatrix}N\\n\end{bmatrix}\frac{(q)_nq^{n^2}}{(z)_{n+1}(z^{-1}q)_n}\right]_{z=1}\\ &=\frac{d}{dz}\left[\frac{(1-z)}{2}\frac{d}{dz}\sum_{n=0}^{N} \begin{bmatrix}N\\n\end{bmatrix}\frac{(q)_nq^{n^2}}{(z)_{n+1}(z^{-1}q)_n}-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{N} \begin{bmatrix}N\\n\end{bmatrix}\frac{(q)_nq^{n^2}}{(z)_{n+1}(z^{-1}q)_n}\right]_{z=1}\\ &=\frac{d}{dz}\left[\frac{1}{2(1-z)(q)_N}+\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix}N\\n\end{bmatrix}\frac{(-1)^n(q)_nq^{\frac{n(3n+1)}{2}}}{(q)_{n+N}}\left(\frac{(1-z)q^n}{(1-zq^n)^2}+\frac{1-z}{(z-q^n)^2}\right)\right.\\ &-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{N} \begin{bmatrix}N\\n\end{bmatrix}\frac{(q)_nq^{n^2}}{(z)_{n+1}(z^{-1}q)_n}\right]_{z=1}\\ &=\left\{\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix}N\\n\end{bmatrix}\frac{(-1)^n(q)_nq^{\frac{n(3n+1)}{2}}}{(q)_{n+N}}\left(\frac{(2q^n-1-zq^n)q^n}{(1-zq^n)^3}+\frac{z-2+q^n}{(z-q^n)^3}\right)\right.\\ &-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix}N\\n\end{bmatrix}\frac{(-1)^n(q)_nq^{\frac{n(3n+1)}{2}}}{(q)_{n+N}}\left(\frac{q^n}{(1-zq^n)^2}+\frac{1}{(z-q^n)^2}\right)\right\}_{z=1}\\ &=\sum_{n=1}^{N}\frac{(-1)^{n+1}(1+q^n)q^{\frac{n(3n+1)}{2}}(q)_N}{(1-q^n)^2(q)_{N-n}(q)_{N+n}}, \end{split}$$

where we used (2.7) in the third step. This completes the proof.

Proof of Theorem 2.6. Let F(q, N) denote the right-hand side of (5.7). It is clear that F(q, N) has a pole of order N + 1 at q = 1. Moreover, if ζ_i is a primitive *i*th root of unity then F(q, N) has a pole of order $\left[\frac{N}{i}\right] + 1$ at ζ_i . Thus F(q, N) has the partial fraction decomposition

$$F(q,N) = \frac{A}{(1-q)^{N+1}} + \frac{B}{(1-q)^N} + \cdots,$$
 (5.14)

where A and B are some constants. As we shall see, the main contribution will come from the first term. By binomial theorem,

$$\frac{1}{(1-q)^{N+1}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(N+1)_n}{n!} q^n,$$
$$\frac{1}{(1-q)^N} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(N)_n}{n!} q^n,$$

where $(N)_n := N(N+1)\cdots(N+n-1)$ denotes the rising factorial. Using these series expansions in (5.14) and then comparing the coefficient of q^n , we have

$$spt(n,N) = \frac{A \cdot (N+1)_n}{n!} + \frac{B \cdot (N)_n}{n!} + \cdots$$
 (5.15)

Note that as $n \to \infty$,

$$\frac{(N+1)_n}{n!} = \frac{(N+n)!}{N!n!} = \frac{(n+1)(n+2)\cdots(n+N)}{N!}$$
$$= \frac{n^N}{N!} + O(n^{N-1}). \tag{5.16}$$

Similarly,

$$\frac{(N)_n}{n!} = \frac{n^{N-1}}{(N-1)!} + O(n^{N-2}). \tag{5.17}$$

Use (5.16) and (5.17) in (5.15) to obtain

$$\operatorname{spt}(n,N) = A \frac{n^N}{N!} + O(n^{N-1}).$$

Now multiply F(q, N) by $(1 - q)^{N+1}$ and then take limit $q \to 1$ to deduce $A = \frac{1}{N!}$. This completes the proof of the theorem.

6. A finite analogue of the Beck-Chern theorem and properties of $N_{\rm SC}(n,N)$

We start this section with a corollary of Theorem 1.4 which motivates us to study finite analogues of an important class of partitions.

Corollary 6.1. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. We have

$$\frac{1}{(q)_N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} {N \brack n} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} n q^{n(n+1)/2}}{1+q^n} + \frac{1}{2(-q)_N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} {N \brack k} \frac{q^{k(k+1)/2}}{(1-q^k)} \left(\frac{(-q)_k}{(q)_k} - 1 \right) \\
= \frac{1}{4(q)_N} \left\{ 1 - \frac{(q)_N}{(-q)_N} \right\} + \frac{1}{2(-q)_N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(-q)_n}{(q)_n} \frac{q^n}{1-q^n}.$$
(6.1)

Proof. By putting c = -1 in Theorem 1.4, we clearly get the right hand side and the first term on the left hand side of equation (6.1) above. Thus we need only show that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{n(n+1)}}{(q)_n (1-q^n)} F\left(q^N, q^n; -q^n\right) = \frac{1}{2(-q)_N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ k \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{k(k+1)/2}}{(1-q^k)} \left(\frac{(-q)_k}{(q)_k} - 1\right).$$

Letting $a = q^N, b = -t = q^n$ in (3.6) gives

$$F(q^{N}, q^{n}; -q^{n}) = \frac{1 - q^{n}}{1 + q^{n}} F(-q^{N}, -q^{n}; q^{n}).$$

Thus, employing the above equation in the first step below and then (3.5) in the second step, we see that

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{n(n+1)}}{(q)_n (1-q^n)} F\left(q^N, q^n; -q^n\right) \\ &= \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{n(n+1)}}{(q)_n (1+q^n)} F(-q^N, -q^n; q^n) \\ &= \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{n(n+1)}}{(q)_n (1+q^n)} \frac{(-q^{N+1})_{\infty}}{(-q^{n+1})_{\infty}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(q^{n-N})_j}{(q)_j} \frac{(-q^{N+1})^j}{1-q^{n+j}} \\ &= \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-q)_n q^{n(n+1)}}{(-q)_N (q)_n (1+q^n)} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(q)_{N-n} q^{\frac{j(j+1)}{2}+nj}}{(q)_{N-n-j} (q)_j (1-q^{n+j})} \\ &= \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-q)_n q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}}{(-q)_N (q)_n (1+q^n)} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(q)_{N-n} q^{(n+j)(n+j+1)/2}}{(q)_{N-n-j} (q)_j (1-q^{n+j})} \\ &= \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-q)_n q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}}{(-q)_N (q)_n (1+q^n)} \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \frac{(q)_{N-n} q^{k(k+1)/2}}{(q)_{N-k} (q)_{k-n} (1-q^k)} \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^{k(k+1)/2}}{(q)_{N-k} (1-q^k)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-q)_n}{(-q)_N} \frac{q^{n(n+1)/2} (q)_{N-n}}{(q)_{k-n} (q)_n (1+q^n)} \\ &= \frac{1}{2(-q)_N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ k \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{k(k+1)/2}}{(1-q^k)} \sum_{n=1}^{k} \begin{bmatrix} k \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-1)_n}{(q)_n} q^{n(n+1)/2}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2(-q)_N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ k \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{k(k+1)/2}}{(1-q^k)} \left(\frac{(-q)_k}{(q)_k} - 1 \right), \end{split}$$

where the evaluation of the inner sum in the last step follows from (3.4) with a=c=1. This completes the proof.

As we shall see, (6.1) leads us to study the finite analogues of what are called S - partitions and self-conjugate S - partitions defined by Andrews, Garvan and Liang in [13, pp. 199–200].

Let V denote the set of vector partitions, that is, $V = \mathcal{D} \times \mathcal{P} \times \mathcal{P}$, where \mathcal{P} denotes the set of partitions and \mathcal{D} denotes the set of partitions into distinct parts. For a positive integer N, let S_N denote the following set of vector partitions:

$$S_N := \{ \vec{\pi} = (\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3) \in V : 1 \le s(\pi_1) < \infty, \ s(\pi_1) \le \min(s(\pi_2), s(\pi_3)) \text{ and } l(\pi_1), l(\pi_2), l(\pi_3) \le N \}.$$

Let the vector partition $\vec{\pi}$ belonging to the set S_N be called an S_N -partition. Let $w_{SC}(\vec{\pi}) = (-1)^{\#(\pi_1)-1}$ and define the involution map $i: S_N \to S_N$ by

$$i(\vec{\pi}) = i(\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3) = i(\pi_1, \pi_3, \pi_2).$$

Define an S_N -partition $\vec{\pi} = (\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3)$ to be a self-conjugate S_N -partition if it is a fixed point of i, that is, if and only if $\pi_2 = \pi_3$. Let $N_{SC}(n, N)$ denote the number of self-conjugate S_N -partitions counted according to the weight w_{SC} , that is,

$$N_{\rm SC}(n,N) = \sum_{\substack{\vec{\pi} \in S_N, |\vec{\pi}| = n \\ \iota(\vec{\pi}) = \vec{\pi}}} w_{\rm SC}(\vec{\pi}). \tag{6.2}$$

We first find the generating function for $N_{SC}(n, N)$.

Theorem 6.2. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. We have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^n (q^{n+1})_{N-n}}{(q^{2n}; q^2)_{N-n+1}} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} N_{SC}(n, N) q^n.$$
(6.3)

Proof. For a fixed $n, 1 \leq n \leq N$, the numerator generates partitions π_1 into distinct parts with smallest part $s(\pi_1) = n$, largest part $l(\pi_1) \leq N$ and counted with weight $(-1)^{\#(\pi_1)-1}$. The denominator generates partitions into parts lying in $\{2n, 2n+2, \ldots, 2N\}$, or equivalently, two identical partitions π_2 and π_3 with parts in $\{n, n+1, \ldots, N\}$. In other words, π_2 and π_3 satisfy $s(\pi_1) = n \leq s(\pi_2) = s(\pi_3)$ and $l(\pi_2), l(\pi_3) \leq N$. So, (6.3) generates precisely those partitions of S_N with $\pi_2 = \pi_3$ and counted with weight $(-1)^{\#(\pi_1)-1} = w_{\text{SC}}(\vec{\pi})$, where $\vec{\pi} = (\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3)$. This completes the proof.

In the theorem below, we obtain another representation for the generating function of $N_{SC}(n, N)$.

Theorem 6.3.

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^{n}(q^{n+1})_{N-n}}{(q^{2n}; q^{2})_{N-n+1}} = \frac{1}{(q)_{N}} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} n q^{n(n+1)/2}}{1 + q^{n}}.$$
 (6.4)

Proof. Let C(q, N) and D(q, N) respectively denote the left- and right-hand sides of the above equation. Observe that $C(q, 1) = D(q, 1) = \frac{q}{1-q^2}$. We show both C(q, N) and D(q, N) satisfy the same recurrence relation

$$f(q, N+1) = \frac{f(q, N)}{1 + q^{N+1}} + \frac{q^{N+1}}{1 - q^{2N+2}},$$
(6.5)

whence we will be done. To that end, note that

$$\begin{split} C(q,N+1) &= \sum_{n=1}^{N} \left\{ \frac{q^{n}(q^{n+1})_{N-n}}{(q^{2n};q^{2})_{N-n+1}} \cdot \frac{1-q^{N+1}}{1-q^{2N+2}} \right\} + \frac{q^{N+1}}{1-q^{2N+2}} \\ &= \frac{C(q,N)}{1+q^{N+1}} + \frac{q^{N+1}}{1-q^{2N+2}}. \end{split}$$

Next, separating the (N+1)-th term of D(q, N+1) in the first step below, we see that

$$\begin{split} &D(q,N+1) - \frac{D(q,N)}{1+q^{N+1}} \\ &= \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} n q^{n(n+1)/2}}{(q)_n (1+q^n)(q)_{N-n+1}} + \frac{(-1)^N (N+1) q^{(N+1)(N+2)/2}}{(1+q^{N+1})(q)_{N+1}} - \frac{1}{1+q^{N+1}} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} n q^{n(n+1)/2}}{(q)_n (1+q^n)(q)_{N-n}} \\ &= \frac{q^{N+1}}{1+q^{N+1}} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} n q^{n(n-1)/2}}{(q)_n (q)_{N-n+1}} + \frac{(-1)^N (N+1) q^{(N+1)(N+2)/2}}{(1+q^{N+1})(q)_{N+1}} \\ &= \frac{q^{N+1}}{(1+q^{N+1})(q)_{N+1}} \sum_{n=1}^{N+1} \begin{bmatrix} N+1 \\ n \end{bmatrix} (-1)^{n-1} n q^{n(n-1)/2} \\ &= \frac{q^{N+1}}{1-q^{2N+2}}, \end{split}$$

by Lemma 5.1. Thus, C(q, N) = D(q, N) for all positive integers N.

We now state Corollary 6.1 in the form that will be used in the sequel. This is a finite analogue of Corollary 2.12 of [24].

Corollary 6.4. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$(q)_{N} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} N_{SC}(n,N) q^{n} + \frac{(q)_{N}}{2(-q)_{N}} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ k \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{k(k+1)/2}}{(1-q^{k})} \left(\frac{(-q)_{k}}{(q)_{k}} - 1 \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{4} \left\{ 1 - \frac{(q)_{N}}{(-q)_{N}} \right\} + \frac{(q)_{N}}{2(-q)_{N}} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(-q)_{n}}{(q)_{n}} \frac{q^{n}}{1-q^{n}}.$$

Proof. Multiply both sides of Corollary 6.1 by $(q)_N$ and employ Theorems 6.2 and 6.3. \square

We next prove Theorem 2.7. To do this, however, we first require two lemmas. The first one below gives the closed-form evaluation of a special case of Fine's function.

Lemma 6.5. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Let F(a,b;t) be defined in (1.16). Then

$$F\left(\frac{-1}{q}, -q^N; q\right) = \frac{1+q^N}{1-q^N}[(-1)_N - 1].$$

Proof. Using (3.6) in the first step below, and (4.1) with n and N respectively replaced by m and N-1 in the second step and simplifying, we see that

$$F\left(\frac{-1}{q}, -q^N; q\right) = \frac{1+q^N}{1-q} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(q^{-(N-1)})_m}{(q^2)_m} (-q^N)^m$$
$$= \frac{1+q^N}{1-q^N} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(q)_N}{(q)_{N-1-m}} \frac{q^{m(m+1)/2}}{(q)_{m+1}}$$
$$= \frac{1+q^N}{1-q^N} \sum_{m=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N\\m \end{bmatrix} q^{m(m-1)/2}$$

$$= \frac{1+q^N}{1-q^N}[(-1)_N - 1],$$

where we used (3.2) with z = -1 in the last step.

Next we state another lemma of which two proofs are given. The first proof led us to the right-hand side starting from the left. Once the identity was known, we obtained a shorter proof by induction. We give both since the first one also gives a new identity along the way (see (6.11) below).

Lemma 6.6. Let $m, N \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$\sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \frac{(-1)_n q^n}{(-q^N)_{n+1}} = \frac{1}{1-q^N} \left\{ \frac{(-1)_m}{(-q^N)_m} - 1 \right\}.$$

Remark 2. The limiting case $N \to \infty$ of the above result is well-known. To see this, first equate the two expressions for the generating function of the number of partitions of a number into distinct parts with largest part $\leq m-1$, that is,

$$(-q)_{m-1} = 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{m-1} (-q)_{n-1} q^n, \tag{6.6}$$

where the expression on the right-hand side is easily obtained by fixing n to be the largest part in a partition in the aforementioned collection. Then multiplying both sides of (6.6) by 2 and subtracting 1 from both sides leads to

$$(-1)_m - 1 = 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{m-1} (-1)_n q^n = \sum_{n=0}^{m-1} (-1)_n q^n.$$
 (6.7)

First proof of Lemma 6.6: Use (3.4) with $a = q^{-N}$, $c = -q^{N}$ in the second step below to see that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \frac{(-1)_n q^n}{(-q^N)_{n+1}} = \sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \frac{(-1)_n q^n}{(q)_n} \frac{(q)_n}{(-q^N)_{n+1}}$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \frac{(-1)_n q^n}{(q)_n} \sum_{k=0}^n (-1)^k \begin{bmatrix} n \\ k \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{k(k+1)/2}}{1+q^{N+k}}$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \frac{(-1)^k q^{k(k+1)/2}}{(q)_k (1+q^{N+k})} \sum_{n=k}^{m-1} \frac{(-1)_n}{(q)_{n-k}} q^n$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \frac{(-1)^k q^{k(k+3)/2} (-1)_k}{(q)_k (1+q^{N+k})} \sum_{n=0}^{m-1-k} \frac{(-q^k)_n}{(q)_n} q^n$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \frac{(-1)^k q^{k(k+3)/2} (-1)_k}{(q)_k (1+q^{N+k})} \frac{(-q^k)_{m-k}}{(q)_{m-1-k} (1+q^k)}, \tag{6.8}$$

where in the last step we applied an identity due to Fu and Lascoux [29, Equation (1.2)], namely,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{m} \frac{(z)_j}{(q)_j} (-xq)^j = \frac{(z)_{m+1}}{(q)_m} \sum_{j=0}^{m} \begin{bmatrix} m \\ j \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-xq)^j (-1/x)_j}{(1-zq^j)}$$

with $z=-q^k$ and x=-1 and m replaced by m-1-k. Thus from (6.8) and using the elementary identity $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{1-z^j}{1-z} x^j = \frac{x}{(1-zx)(1-x)}, |x|<1$, in the third step below, we have

$$\sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \frac{(-1)_n q^n}{(-q^N)_{n+1}} = \frac{(-1)_m}{(q)_{m-1}} \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \begin{bmatrix} m-1 \\ k \end{bmatrix} (-1)^k q^{k(k+1)/2} \frac{q^k}{(1+q^{N+k})(1+q^k)} \\
= \frac{(-q)_{m-1}}{(q)_{m-1}(1+q^N)} - \frac{(-1)_m}{(q)_{m-1}} \sum_{k=1}^{m-1} \begin{bmatrix} m-1 \\ k \end{bmatrix} (-1)^k q^{k(k+1)/2} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{1-q^{Nj}}{1-q^N} (-q^k)^j \\
= \frac{(-q)_{m-1}}{(q)_{m-1}(1+q^N)} + \frac{(-1)_m}{(q)_{m-1}(1-q^N)} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{j-1} (1-q^{Nj}) \sum_{k=1}^{m-1} \begin{bmatrix} m-1 \\ k \end{bmatrix} (-1)^k q^{k(j+1)+\frac{k(k-1)}{2}} \\
= \frac{(-q)_{m-1}}{(q)_{m-1}(1+q^N)} + \frac{(-1)_m}{(q)_{m-1}(1-q^N)} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{j-1} (1-q^{Nj}) \left[(q^{j+1})_{m-1} - 1 \right], \tag{6.9}$$

where we used (3.2) in the last step. By an application of (3.1) in the second step below,

$$\sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \frac{(-1)_n q^n}{(-q^N)_{n+1}} = \frac{(-q)_{m-1}}{(q)_{m-1}(1+q^N)} - \frac{(-1)_m}{(q)_{m-1}(1-q^N)} \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (-1)^j \frac{(q)_{m+j-1} - (q)_j}{(q)_j} - (q)_{m-1} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{(q^m)_j}{(q)_j} (-q^N)^j + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (-q^N)^j \right\} = \frac{(-q)_{m-1}}{(q)_{m-1}(1+q^N)} - \frac{(-1)_m}{(q)_{m-1}(1-q^N)} \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (-1)^j \frac{(q)_{m+j-1} - (q)_j}{(q)_j} - (q)_{m-1} \left(\frac{(-q^{N+m})_{\infty}}{(-q^N)_{\infty}} - 1 \right) - \frac{q^N}{1+q^N} \right\}.$$
(6.10)

Letting $N \to \infty$, employing (6.7) and simplifying results in

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (-1)^j \frac{(q)_{m+j-1} - (q)_j}{(q)_j} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{(q)_{m-1}}{(-1)_m} - (q)_{m-1}, \tag{6.11}$$

which is an interesting result that we get along the way. Now substitute (6.11) in (6.10) and simplify to finally obtain (6.6).

Second proof of Lemma 6.6: Let P(q,m) and Q(q,m) respectively denote the left- and right-hand sides of (6.6). Note that $P(q,1) = Q(q,1) = 1/(1+q^N)$. It is readily seen that

$$P(q, m+1) - P(q, m) = \frac{(-1)_m q^m}{(-q^N)_{m+1}}.$$

Now

$$\begin{split} Q(q,m+1) - Q(q,m) &= \frac{1}{1 - q^N} \left\{ \frac{(-1)_{m+1}}{(-q^N)_{m+1}} - \frac{(-1)_m}{(-q^N)_m} \right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{(1 - q^N)} \frac{(-1)_m}{(-q^N)_{m+1}} \left\{ (1 + q^m) - (1 + q^{N+m}) \right\} \\ &= \frac{(-1)_m q^m}{(-q^N)_{m+1}} = P(q,m+1) - P(q,m). \end{split}$$

By induction on m, the proof of the lemma is complete.

Armed with the above two lemmas, we now give two proofs of our finite analogue of the Beck-Chern theorem.

First proof of Theorem 2.7. Let a(n, N) and $\operatorname{ssptd}_o(n, N)$ be as defined in the hypotheses of the theorem. Then by the definition of a(n, N),

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a(n,N)q^n = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^n(-q)_{n-1}}{1-q^n}.$$
(6.12)

Also, if $\mathfrak{D}(n, N)$ denotes the set of partitions π of n into distinct parts with $l(\pi) - s(\pi) \leq N - 1$, then

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{ssptd}_{o}(n, N) q^{n}
= \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\pi \in \mathfrak{D}(n, N)} s(\pi) q^{n} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\pi \in \mathfrak{D}(n, N)} (-1)^{\#(\pi)} s(\pi) q^{n} \right)
= \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n q^{n} (-q^{n+1})_{N-1} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n q^{n} (q^{n+1})_{N-1} \right)
= \frac{1}{2} \left((-q)_{N-1} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n q^{n} (-q^{N})_{n}}{(-q)_{n}} + (q)_{N-1} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n q^{n} (q^{N})_{n}}{(q)_{n}} \right)
= \frac{1}{2} \left[(-q)_{N-1} \left\{ z \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{z^{n} (-q^{N})_{n}}{(-q)_{n}} \right\} \Big|_{z=q} + (q)_{N-1} \left\{ z \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{z^{n} (q^{N})_{n}}{(q)_{n}} \right\} \Big|_{z=q} \right]
=: \frac{1}{2} \left[(-q)_{N-1} \cdot G(z, q, N)|_{z=q} + (q)_{N-1} \cdot H(z, q, N)|_{z=q} \right].$$
(6.14)

By the q-binomial theorem (3.1),

$$H(z,q,N) = z \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \frac{(q^N z)_{\infty}}{(z)_{\infty}} = z \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \frac{1}{(z)_N} = \frac{z}{(z)_N} \sum_{r=0}^{N-1} \frac{q^r}{1 - zq^r}$$

UNTRODDEN PATHWAYS IN THE THEORY OF THE RESTRICTED PARTITION FUNCTION p(n, N) 31

so that

$$(1 - q^{N})(q)_{N-1} \cdot H(z, q, N)|_{z=q} = \sum_{r=1}^{N} \frac{q^{r}}{1 - q^{r}}.$$
 (6.15)

Next, invoking (3.7), we observe that

$$G(z,q,N) = z \frac{\partial}{\partial z} 2\phi_1 \begin{bmatrix} -q^N, & q \\ & -q \end{bmatrix}; q, z \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= z \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \frac{(q)_{\infty}(-q^N z)_{\infty}}{(-q)_{\infty}(z)_{\infty}} 2\phi_1 \begin{bmatrix} -1, & z \\ & -q^N z \end{bmatrix}; q, q \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \frac{(q)_{\infty}}{(-q)_{\infty}} z \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)_n (-zq^{N+n})_{\infty}}{(zq^n)_{\infty}(q)_n} q^n$$

$$= \frac{(q)_{\infty}}{(-q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)_n q^n}{(q)_n} \frac{(-zq^{N+n})_{\infty}}{(zq^n)_{\infty}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left\{ \frac{zq^{N+n+k}}{1+zq^{N+n+k}} + \frac{zq^{n+k}}{1-zq^{n+k}} \right\}. \quad (6.16)$$

Letting n + k = m in the last expression in (6.16) and employing Lemma 6.6 in the second step, we have

$$(1 - q^{N})(-q)_{N-1} \cdot G(z, q, N)|_{z=q} = (1 - q^{N}) \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \frac{q^{N+m}}{1 + q^{N+m}} + \frac{q^{m}}{1 - q^{m}} \right\} \sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \frac{(-1)_{n}}{(-q^{N})_{n+1}} q^{n}$$

$$= \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \frac{q^{N+m}}{1 + q^{N+m}} + \frac{q^{m}}{1 - q^{m}} \right\} \left(\frac{(-1)_{m}}{(-q^{N})_{m}} - 1 \right)$$

$$= \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^{N+m}}{1 + q^{N+m}} \frac{(-1)_{m}}{(-q^{N})_{m}} - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^{N+m}}{1 + q^{N+m}}$$

$$+ \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^{m}}{1 - q^{m}} \frac{(-1)_{m}}{(-q^{N})_{m}} - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^{m}}{1 - q^{m}}.$$

$$(6.17)$$

Recalling the Fine's function defined in (1.16), the first sum in the above equation can be evaluated as follows:

$$\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^{N+m}}{1+q^{N+m}} \frac{(-1)_m}{(-q^N)_m} = \frac{q^N}{1+q^N} \left(F\left(\frac{-1}{q}, -q^N; q\right) - 1 \right)$$

$$= \frac{(-1)_N q^N}{1-q^N} - \frac{2q^N}{1-q^{2N}}, \tag{6.18}$$

where in the second step, we invoked Lemma 6.5. Moreover, the second and the fourth sums in (6.17) combine together to give

$$-\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^{N+m}}{1+q^{N+m}} - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^m}{1-q^m} = -\sum_{m=1}^{N} \frac{q^m}{1-q^m} - \sum_{m=N+1}^{\infty} \frac{2q^m}{1-q^{2m}}.$$
 (6.19)

Thus from (6.17), (6.18) and (6.19),

$$(1 - q^{N})(-q)_{N-1} \cdot G(z, q, N)|_{z=q}$$

$$= \frac{q^{N}}{1 - q^{N}}(-1)_{N} - \sum_{m=N}^{\infty} \frac{2q^{m}}{1 - q^{2m}} + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^{m}}{1 - q^{m}} \frac{(-1)_{m}}{(-q^{N})_{m}} - \sum_{m=1}^{N} \frac{q^{m}}{1 - q^{m}}.$$
(6.20)

Hence from (6.14), (6.15) and (6.20),

$$(1-q^N)\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{ssptd}_o(n,N)q^n = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^m}{1-q^m} \frac{(-1)_m}{(-q^N)_m} - \sum_{m=N}^{\infty} \frac{2q^m}{1-q^{2m}} + \frac{q^N}{1-q^N} (-1)_N \right\}.$$

Note that $(-1)_N q^N/(1-q^N)$ is the Nth term in

$$\sum_{m=1}^{N} \frac{q^m}{1 - q^m} (-1)_m = 2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a(n, N) q^n.$$

Thus we will be done provided we show

$$\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^m}{1 - q^m} \frac{(-1)_m}{(-q^N)_m} - \sum_{m=N}^{\infty} \frac{2q^m}{1 - q^{2m}} = \sum_{m=1}^{N-1} \frac{q^m}{1 - q^m} (-1)_m, \tag{6.21}$$

for, then

$$(1-q^N)\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{ssptd}_o(n,N)q^n = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a(n,N)q^n,$$

which implies (2.17). We now prove (6.21) by induction on N.

Let R(q, N) and S(q, N) respectively denote the left- and right-hand sides of (6.21). Note that R(q, 1) = S(q, 1) = 0. Suppose R(q, N) = S(q, N) for some positive integer N. Now

$$\begin{split} R(q,N+1) &= \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^m}{1-q^m} \frac{(-1)_m}{(-q^{N+1})_m} - \sum_{m=N+1}^{\infty} \frac{2q^m}{1-q^{2m}} \\ &= \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^m}{1-q^m} \frac{(-1)_m}{(-q^N)_m} \frac{1+q^N}{1+q^{N+m}} - \sum_{m=N}^{\infty} \frac{2q^m}{1-q^{2m}} + \frac{2q^N}{1-q^{2N}} \\ &= \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^m}{1-q^m} \frac{(-1)_m}{(-q^N)_m} \frac{1+q^{N+m}+q^N(1-q^m)}{1+q^{N+m}} - \sum_{m=N}^{\infty} \frac{2q^m}{1-q^{2m}} + \frac{2q^N}{1-q^{2N}} \\ &= \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^m}{1-q^m} \frac{(-1)_m}{(-q^N)_m} - \sum_{m=N}^{\infty} \frac{2q^m}{1-q^{2m}} + q^N \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^m}{1+q^{N+m}} \frac{(-1)_m}{(-q^N)_m} + \frac{2q^N}{1-q^{2N}} \\ &= \sum_{m=1}^{N-1} \frac{q^m}{1-q^m} (-1)_m + \frac{q^N}{1+q^N} \left(F\left(\frac{-1}{q}, -q^N; q\right) - 1 \right) + \frac{2q^N}{1-q^{2N}} \\ &= \sum_{m=1}^{N-1} \frac{q^m}{1-q^m} (-1)_m + \frac{q^N}{1+q^N} \left\{ \frac{1+q^N}{1-q^N} [(-1)_N-1] - 1 \right\} + \frac{2q^N}{1-q^{2N}} \\ &= \sum_{m=1}^{N-1} \frac{q^m}{1-q^m} (-1)_m + \frac{q^N}{1-q^N} (-1)_N \end{split}$$

UNTRODDEN PATHWAYS IN THE THEORY OF THE RESTRICTED PARTITION FUNCTION p(n, N) 33

$$= \sum_{m=1}^{N} \frac{q^m}{1 - q^m} (-1)_m$$
$$= S(q, N+1),$$

where in the fifth and sixth steps, we respectively used the induction hypothesis and Lemma 6.5. This proves (6.21) and hence completes the proof.

Second proof of Theorem 2.7. From (6.12) and (6.13), it suffices to show that U(q, N) = V(q, N), where

$$U(q, N) := \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^{n}(-q)_{n-1}}{1 - q^{n}},$$

$$V(q, N) := \frac{1 - q^{N}}{2} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nq^{n}(-q^{n+1})_{N-1} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nq^{n}(q^{n+1})_{N-1} \right).$$

Note that U(q,1) = V(q,1). Assume that U(q,N) = V(q,N). Observe that

$$U(q, N+1) - U(q, N) = \frac{q^{N+1}(-q)_N}{1 - q^{N+1}}.$$
(6.22)

We will be done if we can show that U(q, N + 1) - U(q, N) = V(q, N + 1) - V(q, N). Now

$$V(q, N+1) - V(q, N) = \frac{1}{2} (1 - q^{N+1}) \left\{ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nq^n (-q^{n+1})_N + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nq^n (q^{n+1})_N \right\}$$

$$- \frac{1}{2} (1 - q^N) \left\{ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nq^n (-q^{n+1})_{N-1} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nq^n (q^{n+1})_{N-1} \right\}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} q^{N+1} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nq^{n-1} (-q^n)_N - \frac{1}{2} q^{N+1} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nq^n (-q^{n+1})_N$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} q^{N+1} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nq^{n-1} (q^n)_N - \frac{1}{2} q^{N+1} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nq^n (q^{n+1})_N.$$
 (6.23)

Consider the first two sums on the right hand side of (6.23), that is,

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2}q^{N+1}\left\{\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}nq^{n-1}(-q^n)_N - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty}nq^n(-q^{n+1})_N\right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{2}q^{N+1}\left\{\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}nq^{n-1}(-q^n)_N - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty}(n+1)q^n(-q^{n+1})_N + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty}q^n(-q^{n+1})_N\right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{2}q^{N+1}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}q^n(-q^{n+1})_N. \end{split}$$

Similarly, the last two sums on the right hand side of (6.23) combine to give $\frac{q^{N+1}}{2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q^n (q^{n+1})_N$ so that

$$V(q, N+1) - V(q, N) = \frac{q^{N+1}}{2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q^n \left\{ (-q^{n+1})_N + (q^{n+1})_N \right\}.$$
 (6.24)

From (6.22) and (6.24), it suffices to show

$$(-q)_N = \frac{1 - q^{N+1}}{2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q^n \left\{ (-q^{n+1})_N + (q^{n+1})_N \right\}.$$
 (6.25)

To that end, the right-hand side of (6.25) can be simplified in the following way:

$$\begin{split} &\frac{(1-q^{N+1})}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}q^{n}\left\{(-q^{n+1})_{N}+(q^{n+1})_{N}\right\}\\ &=\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}q^{n}\left\{(-q^{n+1})_{N}+(q^{n+1})_{N}\right\}-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}q^{n+N+1}\left\{(-q^{n+1})_{N}+(q^{n+1})_{N}\right\}\\ &=\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(1+q^{n})(-q^{n+1})_{N}-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(-q^{n+1})_{N}-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(1-q^{n})(q^{n+1})_{N}+\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(q^{n+1})_{N}\\ &-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(1+q^{n+N+1})(-q^{n+1})_{N}+\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(-q^{n+1})_{N}+\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(1-q^{n+N+1})(q^{n+1})_{N}-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(q^{n+1})_{N}\\ &=\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(-q^{n})_{N+1}-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(q^{n})_{N+1}-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(-q^{n+1})_{N+1}+\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(q^{n+1})_{N+1}\\ &=\left\{\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(-q^{n})_{N+1}-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(-q^{n+1})_{N+1}\right\}-\left\{\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(q^{n})_{N+1}-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(q^{n+1})_{N+1}\right\}\\ &=(-q)_{N}, \end{split}$$

since the sums in each of the two parentheses in the second to last expression telescope resulting in $\frac{1}{2}(-1)_{N+1} - 0 = (-q)_N$. Thus (6.25) is proved, which, in turn, gives

$$V(q, N+1) - V(q, N) = \frac{q^{N+1}(-q)_N}{1 - q^{N+1}}$$

so that by the principle of mathematical induction, we finally deduce that U(q, N) = V(q, N).

Theorem 2.7 now yields a nice relation between the generating functions of $N_{SC}(n, N)$ and d(n, N).

Lemma 6.7. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$2(-q)_N \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} N_{SC}(n,N) q^n - \sum_{n=1}^{N} {N \brack n} \frac{q^{n(n+1)/2}}{1-q^n} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} d(n,N) q^n.$$

Proof. By Theorem 6.2,

$$2(-q)_{N} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} N_{SC}(n,N) q^{n} = 2(-q)_{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^{n}(q^{n+1})_{N-n}}{(q^{2n};q^{2})_{N-n+1}}$$

$$= 2(-q)_{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^{n}}{(1-q^{n})(-q^{n})_{N-n+1}}$$

$$= 2 \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^{n}(-q)_{n-1}}{1-q^{n}}$$

$$= 2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a(n,N) q^{n}$$

$$= 2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\operatorname{ssptd}_{o}(n,N) - \operatorname{ssptd}_{o}(n-N,N)) q^{n}, \qquad (6.26)$$

where in the penultimate and ultimate steps we used (6.12) and Theorem 2.7 respectively.

We now define two functions analogous to $\operatorname{ssptd}_o(n, N)$. Let $\operatorname{ssptd}(n, N)$ denote the sum of smallest parts in all partitions π of n into distinct parts and satisfying $l(\pi) - s(\pi) \leq N - 1$ and $\operatorname{ssptd}_e(n, N)$, the same with the added restriction that there be an even number of parts.

As proved in the beginning of Section 1, the right-hand side of van Hamme's identity (1.4) generates that of (1.6). Similar to this, it is easy to see that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} {N \brack n} \frac{q^{n(n+1)/2}}{1-q^n} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\operatorname{ssptd}(n, N) - \operatorname{ssptd}(n-N, N) \right) q^n.$$
 (6.27)

Hence from (6.26) and (6.27) and recalling the definition of t(n, N) from (1.7),

$$2(-q)_N \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} N_{SC}(n, N) q^n - \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{n(n+1)/2}}{1 - q^n}$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\{ (\operatorname{ssptd}_o(n, N) - \operatorname{ssptd}_e(n, N)) - (\operatorname{ssptd}_o(n - N, N) - \operatorname{ssptd}_e(n - N, N)) \right\} q^n$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(t(n, N) - t(n - N, N) \right) q^n$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} d(n, N) q^n,$$

where the last step follows from (1.6). This proves the result.

We now give an application of Corollary 6.4 which gives a new representation for the generating function of d(n, N).

Corollary 6.8. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(-q)_n}{(q)_n} \frac{q^n}{1-q^n} - 2\sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{n(n+3)/2}(-q)_{n-1}}{(q)_n(1-q^n)} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^n}{1-q^n}.$$
 (6.28)

Proof. Multiply both sides of Corollary 6.4 by $2(-q)_N/(q)_N$ and then simplify the resultant using Lemma 6.7 to obtain

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} d(n,N)q^n + \sum_{n=1}^{N} {N \brack n} \frac{q^{n(n+1)/2}}{1-q^n} \frac{(-q)_n}{(q)_n} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{(-q)_N}{(q)_N} - 1 \right\} + \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(-q)_n}{(q)_n} \frac{q^n}{1-q^n}$$
(6.29)

Next, (3.4) with a = c = 1 gives

$$\frac{(-q)_N}{(q)_N} - 1 = \sum_{n=1}^N \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(-1)_n q^{n(n+1)/2}}{(q)_n}.$$

Employing the above equation in (6.29) yields (6.28) upon simplification.

7. A RELATION BETWEEN d(n,N) and a finite analogue of the largest parts function

Let lpt(n, N) denote the number of occurrences of the largest parts in those partitions π of n whose corresponding largest parts are less than or equal to N. In what follows, we give a relation between d(n, N) and lpt(n, N).

Theorem 7.1. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^n}{1-q^n} + \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{n(n+1)}}{(q)_n (1-q^n)} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^n}{(1-q^n)(q)_n}.$$
 (7.1)

Hence if $\nu(i)$ denotes the number of occurrences of the integer i in a partition π of some number m and

$$w(m, N) := \sum_{n=1}^{N} \sum_{\substack{\pi \in \mathcal{P}(m, N+1) \\ exactly \ n \ narts > n}} \{\nu(n) + 1\},$$
(7.2)

then

$$d(m,N) + w(m,N) = lpt(m,N).$$

$$(7.3)$$

Proof. Letting c = 0 in Theorem 1.4, and then employing a recent result of Merca [43, Section 2, Equation (8)], namely,

$$\frac{1}{(q)_N} \sum_{n=1}^N \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} (-1)^{n-1} n q^{n(n+1)/2} = \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{q^n}{1 - q^n},$$

we obtain (7.1). Clearly, the right-hand side of (7.1) is the generating function of $\operatorname{lpt}(m,N)$. So we need only interpret $\sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{q^{n(n+1)}}{(q)_n(1-q^n)}$. Now $\begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}$ is the generating function of the number of partitions into at most n parts each $\leq N-n$. A typical partition from this set

would look like $a_1 + a_2 + \cdots + a_n$ with $N - n \ge a_1 \ge a_2 \ge \cdots \ge a_n \ge 0$. Add n copies of n+1 to this partition, one copy to each of the a_i 's (corresponding to the $q^{n(n+1)}$ term in the numerator of the sum). The partition now becomes $(a_1+n+1)+(a_2+n+1)+\cdots+(a_n+n+1)$, where each a_i+n+1 satisfies $n+1 \le a_i+n+1 \le N+1$. So we get a partition, say λ , into n parts each part being greater than n. The term $\frac{1}{(q)_n(1-q^n)}$ remains to be dealt with. Since

$$\frac{1}{(q)_n(1-q^n)} = \frac{1}{(1-q)} \cdot \frac{1}{(1-q^2)} \cdots \frac{1}{(1-q^{n-1})} \sum_{\nu(n)=0}^{\infty} (\nu(n)+1) q^{\nu(n)n},$$

the left-hand side represents partitions into parts $\leq n$ with weight $\nu(n) + 1$. Putting this together with λ , we obtain a partition with each part $\leq N+1$, exactly n parts greater than n, and with weight $\nu(n) + 1$. Thus the coefficient of q^m in $\sum_{n=1}^{N} {N \brack n} \frac{q^{n(n+1)}}{(q)_n(1-q^n)}$ is

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \sum_{\substack{\pi \in \mathcal{P}(m,N+1) \\ \text{exactly } n \text{ parts} > n}} \{\nu(n)+1\} = w(m,N), \text{ by (7.2). Thus we obtain (7.3).}$$

8. An example of a generalized sum-of-tails identity and its combinatorial implication

The identity in (6.11) was instrumental in the first proof of Lemma 6.6 of Section 6. This identity appears to be new and is an example of a generalization of 'sum-of-tails identity', a topic first initiated by Ramanujan [46, p. 14] and later developed by Andrews [3], Andrews and Freitas [11], Andrews, Jiménez-Urroz and Ono [14], Patkowski [44], and Zagier [53], to name a few.

Add the j=0 term of the sum on the left-hand side of (6.11), that is, $(q)_{\infty}-1$, to both sides of (6.11), then replace j by j-1 and m by m+1 to obtain

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{j-1} ((q^j)_m - 1) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{(q)_m}{(-q)_m} - 1 \right).$$
 (8.1)

The partition-theoretic interpretation of the above identity is

$$\sum_{\pi \in \mathcal{D}(n,m)} (-1)^{\#(\pi)} \sum_{j=\xi}^{s(\pi)} (-1)^{j-1} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{\pi \in \overline{\mathcal{P}}(n) \\ l(\pi) \le m}} (-1)^{\#(\pi)}, \tag{8.2}$$

where $\xi := \max\{1, l(\pi) - (m-1)\}$, $\overline{\mathcal{P}}(n)$ is the collection of overpartitions of n, and, as mentioned in the introduction, $\mathcal{D}(n,m)$ is the collection of partitions of n into distinct parts such that $l(\pi) - s(\pi) \leq m - 1$. Clearly, the right-hand side of (8.1) is the generating function of that of (8.2). Now consider the summand on the left-hand side of (8.1). Any partition π that is counted by $(q^j)_m - 1$ is a partition into distinct parts counted with weight $(-1)^{\#(\pi)}$ and satisfying $s(\pi) \leq j$ and $l(\pi) \leq m + j - 1$. This necessitates $l(\pi) - s(\pi) \leq m - 1$. Thus j, the index of summation on the left-hand side of (8.2) runs from $l(\pi) - m + 1$ to $s(\pi)$.

However, $l(\pi) - m + 1$ might be negative, which is why we have to take the lower limit of summation to be $\xi = \max\{1, l(\pi) - (m-1)\}$. This completes the proof of (8.2).

The limiting case $m \to \infty$ of (8.1) is well-known, and is the first equality below:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{j-1} ((q^j)_{\infty} - 1) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{(q)_{\infty}}{(-q)_{\infty}} - 1 \right) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (-1)^j q^{j^2}, \tag{8.3}$$

where the second equality follows from Gauss' identity $(q)_{\infty}/(-q)_{\infty} = 1 + 2\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (-1)^j q^{j^2}$. The above identity is precisely Equation (3.22) in [13].

Another proof of (8.3) can be obtained by letting t = q, a = 0, and $g_n = (-1)^n/(q)_n$ (so that $g(x) := \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} g_n x^n = 1/(-x;q)_{\infty}$) in Theorem 4.1 of Andrews and Freitas [11].

Note also that an analogous identity

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} ((q^{j+1})_{\infty} - 1) = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^n}{1 - q^n}.$$

is well-known [27, p. 14, Equations (12.41), (12.45)].

9. A FINITE ANALOGUE OF GARVAN'S IDENTITY AND ITS SPECIAL CASES

We prove Theorem 1.3 in this section. Its corollaries are then discussed. We begin with some definitions and lemmas. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. We define the finite analogue of Fine's function (1.16) by

$$F_N(\alpha, \beta; \tau) = F_N(\alpha, \beta; \tau : q) := \sum_{n=0}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(\alpha q)_n(\tau)_{N-n}(q)_n \tau^n}{(\beta q)_n(\tau)_N}.$$
 (9.1)

We need the partial fraction decomposition of $F_N(\alpha, \beta; t)$ which generalizes (3.5).

Lemma 9.1. For $N \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

$$F_N(a,b;t) = \frac{(1 - tq^N)(aq)_N}{(bq)_N} \sum_{n=0}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(b/a)_n (aq)_{N-n} (aq)^n}{(aq)_N (1 - tq^n)}.$$

Proof. Let $\alpha = b/a, \beta = t, \gamma = tq$ and $\tau = aq$ in (3.8) and simplify using (4.2).

Lemma 9.2 (Finite analogue of the Rogers-Fine identity). Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. For $\beta \neq 0$,

$$F_N(\alpha, \beta; \tau) = (1 - \tau q^N) \sum_{n=0}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix} \frac{(\alpha q)_n (q)_n \left(\frac{\alpha \tau q}{\beta}\right)_n (\alpha \tau q^2)_{N-1} (\tau \beta)^n q^{n^2} (1 - \alpha \tau q^{2n+1})}{(\beta q)_n (\tau)_{n+1} (\alpha \tau q^2)_{N+n}}.$$

Proof. Let $a = \tau \alpha q$, $b = \frac{\alpha \tau q}{\beta}$, $d = \alpha q$, e = q and $c \to \infty$ in Watson's q-analogue of Whipple's theorem, that is, (3.11), and simplify.

Remark 3. Letting $N \to \infty$ in the above lemma gives the well-known Rogers-Fine identity [27, p. 15, Equation (14.1)]:

$$F(\alpha, \beta; \tau) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\alpha q)_n \left(\frac{\alpha \tau q}{\beta}\right)_n (\tau \beta)^n q^{n^2} (1 - \alpha \tau q^{2n+1})}{(\beta q)_n (\tau)_{n+1}}.$$

Let

$$S_1(z,q,N) := \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^2} \frac{(q^2; q^2)_n (q^2; q^2)_{n-1} (zq; q^2)_{N-n} (zq)^n}{(zq^2; q^2)_n (zq; q^2)_N}.$$
 (9.2)

Using (9.1), it can be easily expressed in terms of the finite analogue of Fine's function:

$$S_1(z,q,N) = \frac{zq(1-q^{2N})}{(1-zq^2)(1-zq^{2N-1})} F_{N-1}(1,zq^2,zq:q^2).$$
(9.3)

In the following two lemmas, we derive two representations for $S_1(z, q, N)$, which will be crucial in proving Theorem 1.3.

Lemma 9.3. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$S_1(z,q,N) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^2} \frac{(q;q^2)_{n-1}(q^2;q^2)_n(zq^2;q^2)_{N-n}z^nq^{2n-1}}{(zq;q^2)_n(zq^2;q^2)_N}.$$
 (9.4)

Proof. Note that

$$S_{1}(z,q,N) = \frac{1}{(1-zq^{2N-1})} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n+1 \end{bmatrix}_{q^{2}} \frac{(q^{2};q^{2})_{n+1}(q^{2};q^{2})_{n}(zq;q^{2})_{N-n-1}(zq)^{n+1}}{(zq^{2};q^{2})_{n+1}(zq;q^{2})_{N-1}}$$

$$= \frac{zq(1-q^{2N})}{(1-zq^{2N-1})(1-zq^{2})} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \frac{(q^{2};q^{2})_{N-1}(zq;q^{2})_{N-n-1}(q^{2};q^{2})_{n}}{(q^{2};q^{2})_{N-n-1}(zq;q^{2})_{N-1}(zq^{4};q^{2})_{n}} (zq)^{n}$$

$$= \frac{zq(1-q^{2N})}{(1-zq^{2N-1})(1-zq^{2})} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \frac{(q^{2-2N};q^{2})_{n}(q^{2};q^{2})_{n}}{(q^{3-2N}/z;q^{2})_{n}(zq^{4};q^{2})_{n}} q^{2n}$$

$$= \frac{zq(1-q^{2N})}{(1-zq^{2N-1})(1-zq^{2})} {}_{3}\phi_{2} \begin{bmatrix} q^{2-2N}, & q^{2}, & q^{2} \\ zq^{4}, & \frac{q^{3-2N}}{z} \end{bmatrix} ; q^{2}, q^{2}$$

$$(9.5)$$

where in the penultimate step we used [35, p. 351, Appendix (I.11)]

$$\frac{(b;q^2)_N}{(a;q^2)_N} \frac{(a;q^2)_{N-n}}{(b;q^2)_{N-n}} \left(\frac{a}{b}\right)^n = \frac{(q^{2-2N}/b;q^2)_n}{(q^{2-2N}/a;q^2)_n}$$
(9.6)

with $a=zq, b=q^2$ and N replaced by N-1. Now use (3.9) with N and q respectively replaced by N-1 and q^2 , and then let $\alpha=\beta=q^2$, $\tau=zq$, and $\gamma=zq^4$ to transform the $_3\phi_2$ in (9.5) so as to obtain

$$\begin{split} S_1(z,q,N) &= \frac{zq(1-q^{2N})}{(1-zq)(1-zq^{2N})} {}_3\phi_2 \begin{bmatrix} q^{2-2N}, & q, & q^2 \\ zq^3, & \frac{q^{2-2N}}{z} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \frac{zq(1-q^{2N})}{(1-zq)(1-zq^{2N})} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \frac{(q^2;q^2)_{N-1}(zq^2;q^2)_{N-n-1}(q;q^2)_n z^n q^{2n}}{(zq^2;q^2)_{N-1}(q^2;q^2)_{N-n-1}(zq^3;q^2)_n} \\ &= \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^2} \frac{(q;q^2)_{n-1}(q^2;q^2)_n(zq^2;q^2)_{N-n} z^n q^{2n-1}}{(zq;q^2)_n(zq^2;q^2)_N}, \end{split}$$

where in the second step we again used (9.6) with N replaced by N-1, $a=zq^2$ and $b=q^2$. This proves (9.4).

On page 5 of Ramanujan's Lost Notebook [46] (see also [10, p. 29, Entry 1.7.2] we find the following identity valid for |b| < 1 and $a \in \mathbb{C}$:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^n (-q;q)_n (-\frac{aq}{b};q)_n b^n}{(aq;q^2)_{n+1}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^n (-\frac{aq}{b};q)_n b^n q^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}}}{(-b;q)_{n+1}}.$$
 (9.7)

In the following lemma, we derive a finite analogue of the special case of (9.7) when a = -b = zq, which is needed in proving Theorem 1.3.

Lemma 9.4. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $S_1(z,q,N)$ be defined in (9.2). Then

$$S_{1}(z,q,N) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^{2}} \left(\frac{(q;q)_{2n-2}z^{2n-1}q^{n(2n-1)}}{(zq;q)_{2n-1}} + \frac{(q;q)_{2n-1}z^{2n}q^{n(2n+1)}}{(zq;q)_{2n}} \right) \frac{(q^{2};q^{2})_{n}}{(zq^{2N+1};q^{2})_{n}}.$$

$$(9.8)$$

Proof. Replace q by q^2 in Lemma 9.2, let $\alpha = -\frac{a}{bq}$, $\beta = -b$ and $\tau = -bq$, and then multiply both sides of the resulting identity by $\frac{(1-aq^{2N+2})}{(1+b)(1+bq^{2N+1})}$ to deduce that

$$\begin{split} &\left(1-aq^{2N+2}\right)\sum_{n=0}^{N}\frac{\left(-1\right)^{n}\left(-\frac{aq}{b};q^{2}\right)_{n}\left(-bq;q^{2}\right)_{N-n}\left(q^{2};q^{2}\right)_{N}b^{n}q^{n}}{\left(q^{2};q^{2}\right)_{N-n}\left(-b;q^{2}\right)_{n+1}\left(-bq;q^{2}\right)_{N+1}}\\ &=\sum_{n=0}^{N}\frac{\left(q^{2};q^{2}\right)_{N}\left(\frac{-aq}{b};q\right)_{2n}\left(aq^{4};q^{2}\right)_{N}b^{2n}q^{2n^{2}+n}\left(1-aq^{4n+2}\right)}{\left(q^{2};q^{2}\right)_{N-n}\left(-b;q\right)_{2n+1}\left(aq^{4};q^{2}\right)_{N+n}\left(1+bq^{2n+1}\right)}\\ &=\sum_{n=0}^{N}\frac{\left(q^{2};q^{2}\right)_{N}\left(\frac{-aq}{b};q\right)_{2n}\left(aq^{4};q^{2}\right)_{N}b^{2n}q^{2n^{2}+n}}{\left(q^{2};q^{2}\right)_{N-n}\left(-b;q\right)_{2n+1}\left(aq^{4};q^{2}\right)_{N+n}}\left(1-\frac{bq^{2n+1}+aq^{4n+2}}{1+bq^{2n+1}}\right)\\ &=\sum_{n=0}^{N}\left(\frac{\left(\frac{-aq}{b};q\right)_{2n}b^{2n}q^{n(2n+1)}}{\left(-b;q\right)_{2n+1}}-\frac{\left(\frac{-aq}{b};q\right)_{2n+1}b^{2n+1}q^{(2n+1)(n+1)}}{\left(-b;q\right)_{2n+2}}\right)\frac{\left(q^{2};q^{2}\right)_{N}\left(aq^{4};q^{2}\right)_{N}}{\left(q^{2};q^{2}\right)_{N-n}\left(aq^{4};q^{2}\right)_{N+n}}. \end{split}$$

Now let a = zq = -b to get

$$(1 - zq^{2N+3}) \sum_{n=0}^{N} \frac{(q;q^2)_n (q^2;q^2)_N (zq^2;q^2)_{N-n} z^n q^{2n}}{(zq;q^2)_{n+1} (q^2;q^2)_{N-n} (zq^2;q^2)_{N+1}}$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{N} \left(\frac{(q;q)_{2n} z^{2n} q^{2n^2+3n}}{(zq;q)_{2n+1}} + \frac{(q;q)_{2n+1} z^{2n+1} q^{(2n+1)(n+2)}}{(zq;q)_{2n+2}} \right) \frac{(q^2;q^2)_N (zq^5;q^2)_N}{(q^2;q^2)_{N-n} (zq^5;q^2)_{N+n}}.$$

Now replace n by n-1 on both sides, then multiply both sides of the resulting equation by $\frac{zq(1-q^{2N+2})}{(1-zq^{2N+3})}$, and then replace N by N-1 in the resulting identity to obtain after simplification

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^2} \frac{(q;q^2)_{n-1}(q^2;q^2)_n(zq^2;q^2)_{N-n}z^nq^{2n-1}}{(zq;q^2)_n(zq^2;q^2)_N} \\ &= \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^2} \left(\frac{(q;q)_{2n-2}z^{2n-1}q^{n(2n-1)}}{(zq;q)_{2n-1}} + \frac{(q;q)_{2n-1}z^{2n}q^{n(2n+1)}}{(zq;q)_{2n}} \right) \frac{(q^2;q^2)_n}{(zq^{2N+1};q^2)_n}. \end{split} \tag{9.9}$$

Now (9.8) follows from (9.4) and (9.9).

We have now collected all tools necessary to prove Theorem 1.3.

Proof of Theorem 1.3. Replace q by q^2 , z by z/q, then c by z in Theorem 1.2 to get

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^2} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} z^n q^{n^2} (q^2; q^2)_n}{(zq; q^2)_n (1-zq^{2n})} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^2} \frac{(q; q^2)_{n-1} (q^2; q^2)_n (zq^2; q^2)_{N-n} z^n q^{2n-1}}{(zq; q^2)_n (zq^2; q^2)_N}. \tag{9.10}$$

Now Theorem 1.3 follows from (9.10), (9.2) and Lemmas 9.3 and 9.4.

Remark 4. From (9.3), and Lemma 9.1 with q and N replaced by q^2 and N-1 respectively and then with $a=1, b=zq^2$ and t=zq, we see that

$$S_1(z,q,N) = \frac{zq(q^2;q^2)_N}{(zq^2;q^2)_N} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \frac{(zq^2;q^2)_n q^{2n}}{(q^2;q^2)_n (1-zq^{2n+1})},$$

which is a simple representation for $S_1(z, q, N)$.

Letting z = 1 in Theorem 1.3, Lemmas 9.3 and 9.4, simplifying, and then combining the resulting identities together, we get

Corollary 9.5. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. We have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^{2}} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} q^{n^{2}} (q^{2}; q^{2})_{n-1}}{(q; q^{2})_{n}} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^{2n-1}}{1 - q^{2n-1}} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^{2}} \frac{(q^{2}; q^{2})_{n-1} (q; q^{2})_{N-n} q^{n}}{(q; q^{2})_{N}}$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{N} \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^{2}} \frac{(q^{2}; q^{2})_{n-1} (1 - q^{4n-1}) q^{n(2n-1)}}{(q^{2N+1}; q^{2})_{n} (1 - q^{2n-1})}, \tag{9.11}$$

The limiting case $N \to \infty$ of the above identity is well-known (see [24, Remark 3]).

We now give partition-theoretic interpretation of the first equality in the above corollary. This generalizes Corollary 1.3 (i) of Garvan [34].

Consider $S_3 = \{\vec{\pi} = (\vec{\pi_1}, \vec{\pi_2}) \in V_3 : |\vec{\pi}| = |\vec{\pi_1}| + |\vec{\pi_2}| \}$ and $\vec{V_3} = D_{E,n,N} \times P_{O,N}^*$ where $D_{E,n,N}$ denotes the set of partitions of a number into distinct even parts lying between [2N-2n+2,2N] and $P_{O,N}^*$ is the set of partitions of a number in which all parts except possibly the largest part are odd and all odd positive integers less than or equal to the largest part occur as parts.

Corollary 9.6. Let $\nu_d(\lambda)$ be as defined in the introduction, and let S_3 and V_3 be defined as above. Let $\ell_O(\lambda)$ denote the largest odd part of the partition λ . Define $w(\vec{\pi}) := (-1)^{\nu_d(\pi_1) + \frac{1}{2}(\ell_O(\pi_2) - 1)}$. Let $d_1(m, N)$ denote the number of odd divisors of m which are less than or equal to 2N - 1. Then

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \sum_{\substack{\vec{\pi} \in S_3 \\ |\vec{\pi}|=m}} w(\vec{\pi}) = d_1(m, N).$$

Proof. We first show

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(q^2; q^2)_N}{(q^2; q^2)_{N-n}} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} q^{n^2}}{(1 - q^{2n})(q; q^2)_n} = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{N} \sum_{\substack{\vec{\pi} \in S_3 \\ |\vec{\pi}| = m}} w(\vec{\pi}) \right) q^m.$$
(9.12)

To that end, note that $\frac{(q^2;q^2)_N}{(q^2;q^2)_{N-n}} = (q^{2N-2n+2};q^2)_n$ implies that it generates partitions π_1 coming from the set $D_{E,n,N}$ with weight $(-1)^{\nu_d(\pi_1)}$. Also,

$$\frac{(-1)^{n-1}q^{n^2}}{(1-q^{2n})(q;q^2)_n} = (-1)^{n-1}\frac{q}{1-q} \cdot \frac{q^3}{1-q^3} \cdots \frac{q^{2n-1}}{1-q^{2n-1}} \cdot \frac{1}{1-q^{2n}}$$

implies that it generates the partitions π_2 coming from $P_{O,N}^*$ with weight equal to $(-1)^{\frac{1}{2}(\ell_O(\pi_2)-1)}$. Combining the two establishes (9.12). Finally,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{q^{2n-1}}{1 - q^{2n-1}} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} q^{m(2n-1)} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{\substack{d \mid k, d \text{ odd} \\ d \le 2N-1}} 1 \right) q^k$$

implies that it generates $d_1(m, N)$. Thus, the above interpretations of the expressions in the first equality of (9.11) establish the corollary.

Another corollary of Theorem 1.3 is now presented.

Corollary 9.7. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$\frac{1}{(1-q)} \left(1 - \frac{(q^2; q^2)_N}{(q^3; q^2)_N} \right) = \sum_{n=1}^N \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^2} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} q^{n(n+1)}}{1 - q^{2n+1}} = \sum_{n=1}^N \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^2} \frac{(q; q^2)_{n-1} (q^3; q^2)_{N-n} q^{3n-1}}{(q^3; q^2)_N} \\
= \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{(q^2; q^2)_{n-1}}{(q^3; q^2)_n} q^{2n} = (1-q) \sum_{n=1}^N \begin{bmatrix} N \\ n \end{bmatrix}_{q^2} \frac{(q^2; q^2)_{n-1} (1 - q^{4n}) q^{2n^2 + n - 1}}{(q^{2n+2}; q^2)_n (1 - q^{2n-1}) (1 - q^{2n+1})}.$$
(9.13)

Proof. Let z = q in Theorem 1.3. Also, replace q by q^2 in Corollary 4.1 and then let c = q. Combining the two resulting identities lead to (9.13).

10. Concluding Remarks

In this paper, we have obtained, among other things, the finite analogues of rank and crank for vector partitions. It would be worthwhile seeing if rank and crank exist for ordinary partitions enumerated by p(n, N).

We give below another representation for the finite analogue of the crank generating function $\frac{(q)_N}{(zq)_N(z^{-1}q)_N}$ which portrays the possibility of mimicking the approach that Andrews and Garvan [12, Equation (2.3)] used to obtain crank of an ordinary partition enumerated by p(n). Note that letting $\alpha = -zq$ and $\tau = z^{-1}$ in (3.10) gives

$$\frac{(q^2)_{N-1}}{(z^{-1}q)_N} = \frac{1}{(1-q^{N+1})} \sum_{k=0}^N \begin{bmatrix} N \\ k \end{bmatrix} \frac{(zq)_k (z^{-1}q)^k}{(z^{-1}q^{N-k+1})_k}.$$

Hence,

$$\frac{(q)_{N}}{(zq)_{N}(z^{-1}q)_{N}} = \frac{1-q}{(1-q^{N+1})(zq)_{N}} + \frac{(1-q)}{(1-q^{N+1})} \sum_{k=1}^{N} {N \brack k} \frac{q^{k}z^{-k}}{(zq^{k+1})_{N-k}(z^{-1}q^{N-k+1})_{k}}$$

$$= \frac{1-q}{(zq)_{N}} + (1-q) \sum_{k=1}^{N} {N \brack k} \frac{q^{k}z^{-k}}{(zq^{k+1})_{N-k}(z^{-1}q^{N-k+1})_{k}}$$

$$+ \frac{q^{N+1}}{(1-q^{N+1})} \left(\frac{1-q}{(zq)_{N}} + (1-q) \sum_{k=1}^{N} {N \brack k} \frac{q^{k}z^{-k}}{(zq^{k+1})_{N-k}(z^{-1}q^{N-k+1})_{k}} \right).$$
(10.2)

Note that letting $N \to \infty$ in either (10.1) and (10.2) gives

$$\frac{1-q}{(zq)_{\infty}} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^k z^{-k}}{(q^2)_{k-1} (zq^{k+1})_{\infty}},$$

which was combinatorially interpreted by Andrews and Garvan [12, Equation (2.3)] thereby obtaining the crank for an ordinary partition. Unfortunately, we are unable to proceed beyond (10.1) or (10.2).

Do there exist congruences for p(n, N) which could be combinatorially explained by our finite analogues of rank and crank for vector partitions? It would also be worthwhile to see if there exists a refinement for $\operatorname{spt}(n, N)$ of Andrews' famous congruences for $\operatorname{spt}(n)$, namely [5],

$$spt(5n + 4) \equiv 0 \pmod{5},$$

$$spt(7n + 5) \equiv 0 \pmod{7},$$

$$spt(13n + 6) \equiv 0 \pmod{13}.$$

Moreover, it would be interesting to see if a congruence of the form (2.1) holds for $\operatorname{spt}(n, N)$. In [31], Garvan conjectured that for any even $k \geq 2$, the inequality

$$M_k(n) > N_k(n)$$

must be true for all $n \geq 1$. For a sufficiently large n and fixed k, this was proved by Bringmann and Mahlburg [19], and by Bringmann, Mahlburg and Rhoades [20] by analyzing the asymptotic behavior of the difference $M_k(n) - N_k(n)$. Later Garvan [32] himself proved his conjecture for all n and k by finding a combinatorial interpretation for the difference between symmetrized crank and rank moments. In what follows, we give a similar conjecture for the difference of finite crank and rank moments.

Conjecture 10.1. For any fixed natural number N and even k > 2,

$$M_{k,N}(n) > N_{k,N}(n)$$
 for all $n \ge 1$.

For k=2, the result is already shown to be true in Corollary 2.5. We have numerically verified, with the help of *Mathematica*, that the above conjecture holds at least for $4 \le k \le 12$ and $1 \le n \le 20$.

Finally, considering the enormous impact and applications of the theory of Fine's function $F(\alpha, \beta; t)$ developed in [27], it would be worthwhile to do the same for its finite analogue $F_N(\alpha, \beta; t)$ defined in (9.1). In this paper, we have only obtained two results for $F_N(\alpha, \beta; t)$, namely, its partial fraction decomposition and the finite version of the Rogers-Fine identity, because obtaining those was essential to proving Theorem 1.3. We also note that another finite analogue of Fine's function was studied in [8].

References

- [1] G. Almkvist and G. E. Andrews, A Hardy-Ramanujan formula for restricted partitions, J. Number Theory 38 (1991), No. 2, 135–144.
- [2] G. E. Andrews, The Theory of Partitions, Addison-Wesley Pub. Co., NY, 300 pp. (1976). Reissued, Cambridge University Press, New York, 1998.
- [3] G. E. Andrews, Ramanujan's "Lost" Notebook V: Euler's partition identity, Adv. Math. 61 (1986), 156–164.
- [4] G. E. Andrews, *Ramanujan and partial fractions*, Contributions to the History of Indian Mathematics, Hindustan Book Agency, New Delhi, 2005.
- [5] G. E. Andrews, The number of smallest parts in the partitions on n, J. Reine Angew. Math. **624** (2008), 133–142.
- [6] G. E. Andrews, The finite Heine transformation, Bruce Landman (ed.) et al., Combinatorial number theory. Proceedings of the 3rd Integers Conference 2007, Carrollton, GA, USA, October 2427, 2007. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, Integers 9, Suppl., Article A1, 16.
- [7] G. .E. Andrews, The Bhargava-Adiga summation and partitions, J. Indian Math. Soc. 84 No. 3-4 (2017), 151–160.
- [8] G.E. Andrews and J. Bell, Euler's pentagonal number theorem and the Rogers-Fine identity, Ann. Comb. 16 (2012), 411–420.
- [9] G. E. Andrews, B. C. Berndt, Ramanujan's Lost Notebook, Part I, Springer, New York, 2005.
- [10] G. E. Andrews, B. C. Berndt, Ramanujan's Lost Notebook, Part II, Springer, New York, 2009.
- [11] G.E. Andrews and P. Freitas, Extension of Abel's Lemma with q-series implications, Ramanujan J. 10 (2005), 137-152.
- [12] G. E. Andrews and F. G. Garvan, Dyson's crank of a partition, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 18 (1988) 167–171.
- [13] G. E. Andrews, F. G. Garvan, J. Liang, Self-conjugate vector partitions and the parity of the spt-function, Acta Arith., 158 No. 3 (2013), 199–218.
- [14] G.E. Andrews, J. Jiménez-Urroz and K. Ono, q-series identities and values of certain L-functions, Duke Math. J. 108 No. 3 (2001), 395–419.
- [15] N. J. A. Sloane, On-line encyclopedia of integer sequences; http://oeis.org.
- [16] B. C. Berndt, Ramanujan's Notebooks, Part IV, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991.
- [17] D. Bressoud, An easy proof of the Rogers-Ramanujan identities, J. Number Theory 16 (1983), 235–241.
- [18] D. Bressoud and M. Subbarao, On Uchimura's connection between partitions and the number of divisors, Canad. Math. Bull. 27 (1984), 143–145.
- [19] K. Bringmann, K. Mahlburg, Inequalities between ranks and cranks, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 137, 2009, 2567–2574.

- [20] K. Bringmann, K. Mahlburg, R. C. Rhoades, Asymptotics for rank and crank moments, Bull. London Math. Soc., 43 (2011) 661–672.
- [21] T. J. Bromwich, An introduction to the theory of infinite series, Chelsea Publishing Company, New York, N. Y., 3rd edition, 1991.
- [22] S. Corteel and J. Lovejoy, Overpartitions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 356 No. 4 (2004), 1623–1635.
- [23] S. Chern, On a conjecture of George Beck, Int. J. Number Theory 14 No. 3 (2018), 647–651.
- [24] A. Dixit and B. Maji, Partition implications of a new three parameter q-series identity, submitted for publication, arXiv:1806.04424
- [25] F.J. Dyson, Some guesses in the theory of partitions, Eureka (Cambridge) 8 (1944), 10–15.
- [26] F. J. Dyson, Mappings and symmetries of partitions, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 51 (1989) 169–180.
- [27] N. J. Fine, Basic Hypergeometric Series and Applications, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, Amer. Math. Soc., 1989.
- [28] R. Fokkink, W. Fokkink and Z. B. Wang, A relation between partitions and the number of divisors, Amer. Math. Monthly 102 (1995), 345–347.
- [29] A. M. Fu and A. Lascoux, q-Identities related to overpartitions and divisor functions, Electron. J. Combin. 12 (2005), #R38.
- [30] F. G. Garvan, New combinatorial interpretations of Ramanujan's partition congruences mod 5, 7 and 11, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **305** (1988) 47–77.
- [31] F. G. Garvan, Congruences for Andrews' smallest parts partition function and new congruence for Dyson's rank, Int. J. Number Theory, 6, (2010) 281–309.
- [32] F. G. Garvan, Higher order spt-function, Adv. Math. 228 (2011) 241–265.
- [33] F. G. Garvan, Weighted partition identities and divisor sums, Talk, AMS special Session on 'Partition Theory and Related Topics', Joint Mathematics Meeting, Atlanta, January 6, 2017.
- [34] F. G. Garvan, Weighted partition identities and divisor sums, Ch. 12 in Frontiers in Orthogonal Polynomials and q-Series, Contemporary Mathematics and Its Applications: Monographs, Expositions and Lecture Notes: Vol. 1, M. Z. Nashed and X. Li, eds., World Scientific, 2018, pp. 239–249.
- [35] G. Gasper, M. Rahman, Basic Hypergeometric series, Second Edition, (Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its applications), 2004.
- [36] V. J. W. Guo and J. Zeng, Basic and bibasic identities related to divisor functions, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 431 (2015), 1197–1209.
- [37] V. J. W. Guo and C. Zhang, Some further q-series identities related to divisor functions, Ramanujan J. 25 No. 3 (2011), 295–306.
- [38] L. Van Hamme, Problem 6407, Amer. Math. Monthly 89 No. 9 (1982), 703-704.
- [39] M. E. H. Ismail and D. Stanton, Some combinatorial and analytical identities, Ann. Comb. 16 No. 4 (2012), 755–771.
- [40] J. C. Kluyver, Vraagstuk XXXVII (Solution by S.C. van Veen), Wiskundige Opgaven (1919), 92–93.
- [41] B. Kronholm and J. Rehmert, A generalization of congruence properties for a restricted partition function, Integers 18 (2018), Paper No. A22.
- [42] P.A. Macmahon, Combinatory Analysis, Vol. II, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1915-1916, reissued, Chelsea, 1960.
- [43] M. Merca, A new look on the generating function for the number of divisors, J. Number Theory 149 (2015), 57–69.
- [44] A. E. Patkowski, Divisors, partitions and some new q-series identities, Colloq. Math. 117 No. 2 (2009), 289–294.
- [45] S. Ramanujan, Notebooks of Srinivasa Ramanujan, Vol. II, Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Bombay, 1957, 393 pp.
- [46] S. Ramanujan, The Lost Notebook and Other Unpublished Papers, Narosa, New Delhi, 1988.

- [47] S. Ramanujan, Notebooks of Srinivasa Ramanujan, Vol. II, Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Mumbai, 2012.
- [48] M. Rowell, A. J. Yee, The finite Heine transformation and conjugate Durfee squares, Integers 9 (2009), 691–698
- [49] G. Szekeres, An asymptotic formula in the theory of partitions, Q. J. Math. 2 (1951), 85–108.
- [50] G. Szekeres, Some asymptotic formulae in the theory of partitions. II. Q. J. Math. 4 (1953), 96-111.
- [51] K. Uchimura, An identity for the divisor generating function arising from sorting theory, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A **31** (1981) 131–135.
- [52] Q. Yan and J. Fu, A new generalization of Dilcher's formula, Journal of Nanjing University of Posts and Telecommunications (Natural Science) 32 No. 1 (2012), 115–117.
- [53] D. Zagier, Vassiliev invariants and a strange identity related to the Dedekind eta-function, Topology 40 (2001), 945–960.

DISCIPLINE OF MATHEMATICS, INDIAN INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY GANDHINAGAR, PALAJ, GANDHINAGAR 382355, GUJARAT, INDIA

E-mail address: adixit@iitgn.ac.in

HARISH-CHANDRA RESEARCH INSTITUTE, HBNI, CHHATNAG ROAD, JHUNSI, ALLAHABAD, INDIA, 211019 E-mail address: pramodeyy@gmail.com

DISCIPLINE OF MATHEMATICS, INDIAN INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY GANDHINAGAR, PALAJ, GANDHINAGAR 382355, GUJARAT, INDIA

E-mail address: bibekananda.maji@iitgn.ac.in

DISCIPLINE OF MATHEMATICS, INDIAN INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY GANDHINAGAR, PALAJ, GANDHINAGAR 382355, GUJARAT, INDIA

E-mail address: garima.sood@iitgn.ac.in